

# Which crop model to simulate the ecosystem services provided by crop diversification in Brittany?

Louis Bourdin

## ► To cite this version:

Louis Bourdin. Which crop model to simulate the ecosystem services provided by crop diversification in Brittany?. Life Sciences [q-bio]. 2020. dumas-03038750

## HAL Id: dumas-03038750 https://dumas.ccsd.cnrs.fr/dumas-03038750v1

Submitted on 3 Dec 2020

**HAL** is a multi-disciplinary open access archive for the deposit and dissemination of scientific research documents, whether they are published or not. The documents may come from teaching and research institutions in France or abroad, or from public or private research centers. L'archive ouverte pluridisciplinaire **HAL**, est destinée au dépôt et à la diffusion de documents scientifiques de niveau recherche, publiés ou non, émanant des établissements d'enseignement et de recherche français ou étrangers, des laboratoires publics ou privés.



Distributed under a Creative Commons Attribution - NonCommercial - NoDerivatives 4.0 International License









🗌 CFR Angers 🗹 CFR Rennes

Année universitaire : 2019-2020

Master Biologie, Agrosciences

Parcours Amélioration, Production, Valorisation du végétal

Option : Fonctionnement et Gestion des Agrosystèmes

#### Rapport de stage

- d'Ingénieur de l'Institut Supérieur des Sciences agronomiques, agroalimentaires, horticoles et du paysage
- de Master de l'Institut Supérieur des Sciences agronomiques, agroalimentaires, horticoles et du paysage
- 🔲 d'un autre établissement (étudiant arrivé en M2)

# Which crop model to simulate the ecosystem services provided by crop diversification in Brittany?

Par : Louis Bourdin



Soutenu le 26 juin 2020 Devant le jury composé de : Président : Christine Bissuel Maître de stage : Matthieu Carof Enseignant référent : Edith Le Cadre

Autres membres du jury (Nom, Qualité) : Virginie Parnaudeau, rapporteur

Les analyses et les conclusions de ce travail d'étudiant n'engagent que la responsabilité de son auteur et non celles d'AGROCAMPUS OUEST et l'université de Rennes 1

Ce document est soumis aux conditions d'utilisation

« Paternité-Pas d'Utilisation Commerciale-Pas de Modification 4.0 France » disponible en ligne http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/deed.fr



## Acknowledgments

Je tiens à remercier en premier lieu mon maître de stage, Matthieu Carof, pour son suivi et le précieux travail qu'il a fourni auprès de moi tout du long de ce stage. Un grand merci également à Thierry Morvan pour avoir accepté de me transmettre les données mesurées sur EFELE, données qui m'ont permis d'avancer dans mes simulations. Je tiens également à remercier Olivier Godinot et Edith le Cadre pour leurs remarques pertinentes et le temps qu'ils m'ont accordé. Et enfin un merci particulier à Julia Jouan pour tous ses conseils avisés.

## Table of contents

1.	Introduction1
2.	Context
a	. Transition to more sustainable agriculture: redesigning agricultural systems
b	. Crop diversification
c.	. What tools to design innovative agroecosytems including crop diversification?
3.	Issue7
4.	Materials and methods7
a	. Conceptual modelling of an agroecosystem (CMA) based on crop diversification7
b	. Crop simulation model comparison
c.	. Scenarios of cropping systems for the selected crop simulation model
5.	Results
a	A conceptual model of an agroecosystem based on crop diversification
b b	. Comparison of crop simulation models using our conceptual model of an agroecosystem ased on crop diversification
c.	. Simulations with APSIM18
6.	Discussion
a	. Interest and limits of the conceptualization method
b	Advantages and limits of APSIM
c.	A dataset with insufficient observed data
d	. Perspectives
7.	Conclusion
Bib	liography

## **Figure list**

Figure 1: Decision tree allowing to rank the effects related to agroecosystems and its management known in literature. In green the effects of agroecosystem and its management has to be taken account in the construction of the conceptual-model; in red the effects of agroecosystem and its management are not necessary for the construction of conceptual-model. Management of the agroecosystem includes farmer practices such as the choice of crop 

Figure 2: Annual rainfall at EFELE (Le Rheu, France). For 2019, this is not the total rainfall, 

Figure 3: Conceptual model of an agroecosystem based on crop diversification. In the center part of the figure, the BAPs are represented. Variables that characterize each BAP are shown in italics, below the corresponding BAP's. Variables influencing the system are listed in the active environment. Variables that are outputs of the system are listed in the passive environment. Elements of the active environment related to crop diversification are bold.....14

Figure 4: Observed vs. simulated dry matter (DM) yield for maize and wheat in the EFELE experiment ("TS/MO" trial; "conventional tillage/mineral fertilizer" treatment) in 2012-2019. Monocropping simulations correspond to runs 1 and 2; rotation 1 (run 3) is Maize / Wheat / Fallow; rotation 2 (run 4) is Maize / Wheat / Cover crop. Wheat crop is represented by yellow 

Figure 5: Observed vs. simulated volumetric water content (%) at 15-depth cm in the EFELE experiment ("TS/MO" trial; "conventional tillage/mineral fertilizer" treatment) in 2012-2019. Rotation 1 (run 3) is Maize / Wheat / Fallow; rotation 2 (run 4) is Maize / Wheat / Cover crop. 

Figure 6: Evolution over 8 years (2012-2019) of volumetric water content (%) at 15-cm depth for rotation 1, Maize / Wheat / Fallow, rotation 2, Maize / Wheat / Cover crop, and on EFELE 

Figure 7: Evolution over 8 years (2012-2019) of simulation of (a) soil organic nitrogen stocks, and (b) soil organic carbon stocks between 0-25 cm for rotation 1 "Maize (M) / Wheat (W) / Fallow" and rotation 2 "Maize (M) / Wheat (W) / Cover crop (C)". The two points of measurements made on EFELE are indicated in grey and the arrows represent the incorporation 

Figure 8: Comparison for maize period, wheat period and fallow/cover crop periods ("other") of (a) average dioxide carbon (CO<sub>2</sub>) emissions, (b) average nitrous oxide emissions (N<sub>2</sub>O), (c) average cumulative soil losses, and (d) average nitrate leaching between rotation 1 and rotation 2 simulations (2012-2019). The amount of nitrous oxide emissions has been converted into carbon dioxide equivalent using the global warming power at 100 years of nitrous oxide stated 

Figure 9: Evolution over time of labile phosphorus in soil for rotation 1 simulation (M, Maize; 

Figure 10: Evolution of extractable soil water for rotation 1 and rotation 2 simulations (M, 

## Table list

Table 1: Short description of the simulation runs. From 2012-2019, crop rotation on the EFELE experiment was Maize / Wheat / Mustard......11 Table 2 Crop management systems of the EFELE experiment for the plots with conventional Table 3: Main characteristics of the simulated soil created with EFELE data: depth, soil water content (SWC) at three pressure heads (near saturation (-3.2 kPa), field capacity (-31.6 kPa) and permanent wilting point (-1585 kPa)), percentage of organic carbon (OC), pH, quantity of Table 4: Variables of the passive environment ordered according to (i) the CICES V5.1 classification (Haines-Young & Potschin, 2017) and (ii) the time scale necessary for the variables of the active environment to have an effect on them. References for this ordering are listed. About the CICES V5.1 classification: the highest level are the categories, called "Services", used in the Millennium Ecosystem Assessment (2005), "provisioning", "regulation and maintenance". Below these "Services" are a series of "Divisions", "Groups" and "Classes". Table 6: Statistical summary on the accuracy of APSIM to simulate crop dry matter yield for maize and wheat in the EFELE experiment ("TS/MO" trial; "conventional tillage/mineral Table 7: Statistical summary on the accuracy of APSIM to simulate volumetric water content (%) at 15-cm depth in the EFELE experiment ("TS/MO" trial; "conventional tillage/mineral fertilizer" treatment) in 2012-2019. Rotation 1 (run 3) is Maize / Wheat / Fallow; rotation 2 (run Table 8: Comparison of soil organic carbon and soil organic nitrogen data in March 16, 2016 between EFELE experiment and rotation 2 with soil 1 and soil 2......24

## Abbreviations list

agMIP: agricultural Model Intercomparison and improvement Project ANR: Agence Nationale de la Recherche **APSIM:** Agricultural Production Systems Simulator **BAP: Basic Agroecosystem Process** CCC: Concordance correlation coefficient CICES: Common International Classification of Ecosystem Services CMA: Conceptual modelling of an agroecosystem ( DSSAT: Decision Support System for Agrotechnology Transfer FAO: Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations INRAE: Institut national de recherche pour l'agriculture, l'alimentation et l'environnement LAI: Leaf Area Index LER: Land Equivalent Ratio MBC: Microbial Biomass Carbon MBP: DM: Dry Matter: MWD: Mean Weight Diameter P: phosphorus PerfCOM: Peuplements Complexes Performants en agricultures bas intrants RMSE: Root Mean Square Error RothC: Rothamsted Carbon model SOC: Soil Organic Carbon SOM: Soil Organic Matter SON: Soil Organic Nitrogen STICS: Simulateur mulTIdiscplinaire pour les Cultures Standard SWC: Soil Water Content. UMR SAS: Unité Mixte de Recherche Sols Agro et hydrosystèmes Spatialisation

## 1. Introduction

In France, over the past 50 years, farms and territories have undergone a specialisation process which turned them towards animal or crop production, with a clear decline in the number of crop-livestock farming systems (Mignolet et al., 2012). This specialisation is explained by the search for greater productivity on farms and by the desire to benefit from the economies of scale and agglomeration which can be achieved when technical progress is made and when businesses in the same sector are located in the same territory (Jouan, 2020). Moreover, the structuring of agro-industrial sectors has forced farming systems to simplify so that quality control and volumes management are optimized throughout the supply chain (Meynard & Messéan, 2014). Therefore, the number of crop species has decreased on many farms with crop choices oriented toward the most profitable species (Meynard & Messéan, 2014). Nowadays, less than 3 crop species represent about 35% of the French arable area: winter wheat, maize (grain and forage), barley (Agreste, 2020). As a consequence, crop rotations<sup>1</sup> are simplified (Meynard & Messéan, 2014) and landscape<sup>2</sup> heterogeneity is reduced (Mignolet et al., 2012). For example, short rapeseed-based rotations such as rapeseed / winter wheat / barley are common in the Seine basin (Mignolet et al., 2012). In addition, between 2006 and 2009, 17% of winter wheat areas are not rotated in France (Fuzeau et al., 2012).

Simplification of crop rotations has negative environmental impacts:

- increase in chemical fertilizer use and greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions following the reduction in the share of legumes in crop rotations (Pellerin et al., 2013);
- increase in pesticide use due to greater difficulty in controlling weeds and pests in short rotations and crop rotations with low diversity (Schmidt et al., 2010);
- levelling off of crop yields with the shortening of crop rotations (Bennett et al., 2012);
- loss of biodiversity due to a decrease in habitat heterogeneity (Benton et al., 2003);
- contamination of water through intensive use of fertilizers and pesticides, leading to health and water purification costs (Tilman et al., 2002).

This raises two contradictory issues: on the one hand, specialisation process – and the resulting simplification of crop rotations – is relevant for ensuring food security due to the high productivity of simplified farming systems but on the other hand, it is unable to maintain a high level of environmental quality. Current farming systems cannot meet this double challenge and Meynard et al. (2012) emphasize that new farming systems breaking with the current ones must be designed to be able to respond to this double challenge. One solution is to develop farming systems based on crop management practices that increase the level of provision of ecosystem services. Such services are defined in the Millennium Ecosystem Assessment as "*the benefits people obtain from ecosystems*" (Corvalán et al., 2005). These benefits concern food, water, timber, leisure, spiritual, etc.

These new farming systems can be built through a "strong ecological modernization of agriculture" (Duru et al., 2015; Horlings & Marsden, 2011) based on the development and management of on-farm biodiversity. Indeed, the functioning of an agroecosystem is based on

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> A method of farming where different crop species are grown one after the other on a field so that the agroecosystem stays healthy and fertile (Cambridge dictionnary, 2020).

 $<sup>^{2}</sup>$  A spatially heterogeneous geographic area characterized by diverse interacting patches or ecosystems (Wikipedia, 2020)

the interactions of two components of on-farm biodiversity (Loreau et al., 2002): planned biodiversity and associated biodiversity. These two components, which refer respectively to (i) the diversity that are intentionally chosen by the farmer and with a productive function (crops: species and cultivars; livestock: species, breeds and genotypes) and (ii) the diversity that includes all organisms that inhabit cultivated areas or colonize them from surrounding habitats (Duru et al., 2015), can be used to increase ecosystem services. Thus, with the intention of implementing a more biodiversity-based agriculture, crop diversification is a promising approach: increasing biodiversity in the fields through diversification, by choosing the most relevant planned biodiversity to foster associated biodiversity, would increase the level of provision of ecosystem services.

My internship took place at UMR SAS (Unité Mixte de Recherche Sol Agro et hydrosystèmes Spatialisation) INRAE-AGROCAMPUS OUEST and I participated in a research project whose objective is to design diversified agroecosystems and to assess, on a long-term basis, ecosystem services that can be provided by crop diversification within these agroecosystems using a modelling approach. My contribution to this project was to find the best crop model to achieve this purpose.

## 2. Context

a. Transition to more sustainable agriculture: redesigning agricultural systems

With nearly 9.7 billion people on Earth by the middle of the century (United Nations et al., 2019) the pressure on the food supply system is increasing, especially since the increase in the world population is accompanied by a change in food consumption (Godfray et al., 2010) linked to changes in living standards. Food security, defined by the Wold Bank (1986) as "*access for all people at all times to sufficient food for an active and healthy life*", is therefore one of the major challenges of the 21st century, and agriculture plays a major role in it. Recent studies highlight that it will be necessary to produce about 50% more food to meet the growing demand (Godfray et al., 2010; TheRoyal Society (London), 2009). Using the IMPACT model<sup>3</sup>, Cassman (1999) estimates that from 1997 to 2027, agricultural production should increase by 44% for wheat, 43% for rice and by 56% for maize to satisfy world demand for these three main cereal crops.

In the past, the exploitation of new land has been used to counter food shortages and increase food production but nowadays, farmers already manage 50% of the land surface (except boreal lands, desert, rock, ice) (Tilman, 2001) and during the last 5 decades, the expansion of agricultural land has only increased by 9% (Godfray et al., 2010). New land could be brought into cultivation, but there are conflicts with the need to protect biodiversity and some ecosystem services such as carbon sequestration in tropical forests. In addition, agricultural land is being lost due to urbanization and other human uses, as well as desertification, salinization, etc (Godfray et al., 2010).

Another way to increase food production is to increase crop productivity. Licker et al. (2010) estimate for wheat, rice, and maize that it would be possible to produce 60, 40, and 50% more respectively, if yields of these crops were universally increased to 95% of their potential. However, studies on the yield gap show that there are significant differences from one world region to another (McLaughlin & Kinzelbach, 2015) and the gap between actual and potential yields allowed by genetics and best management practices is narrowing, further limiting the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The IMPACT model is a tool developed to calculate future food demand based on population and economic growth rates.

potential for increasing the productivity of cropping systems (Cassman, 1999; Neumann et al., 2010). In the past, a method to reduce yield gap was to act on the level and quality of inputs. This was the aim of the Green Revolution (1950-1960) in developing countries, which increased agricultural production through the adoption of high-yielding varieties and the use of chemical fertilizers and pesticides, and irrigation. However, this intensive agriculture shows its limits with a marked deceleration in yield growth, that is expected to slow to 0.7% (0.8% in developing countries) of the historical growth rate (FAO, 2009). Moreover, between 1970 and 2000 the global use of pesticides increased 12-fold all around the world, without significantly reducing the yield gap (McLaughlin & Kinzelbach, 2015). This intensification also causes many environmental and health problems (Aktar et al., 2009), and it is therefore reasonable to ask whether the increase in yield aided by intensive use of inputs is rational. In others words, there is a need to develop more sustainable cropping systems i.e. cropping systems less dependent on chemical inputs and fossil resources, more resilient and producing enough to provide people with good quality food (Duru et al., 2015). This need has given rise to two forms of "ecological modernization of agriculture" (Duru et al., 2014, 2015).

First, "*weak ecological modernization of agriculture*" aims to improve the efficiency of input use and waste recycling in order to reduce production costs and environmental impacts of farming systems. This form of agriculture, in continuity with the productivist one (Duru et al., 2014; Therond et al., 2017) is a technocentric approach (Hill, 1998) whose innovations are most often technological developments: improvement of varieties, development of less environmentally harmful inputs, development of better management practices, development of precision agriculture (Duru et al., 2015). Nevertheless, this first form of modernization of agriculture has weaknesses because it does not fundamentally challenge the principles of actual farming systems, e.g. (i) lack of diversity in cropping systems and landscapes that weakens biodiversity and (ii) uniformity of agricultural practices (Duru et al., 2015). Also, Meynard et al. (2012) further explain that approaches focusing on input optimization are not sufficient to address the above-mentioned problems of agriculture.

Secondly, "strong ecological modernization of agriculture" is an approach in opposition to specialized farming systems and is based on a complete paradigm shift, integrating scales ranging from fields to landscapes (Duru et al., 2014, 2015). It refers to an ecocentric approach (Hill, 1998) and aims to strongly improve ecosystem services provided by biodiversity (Therond et al., 2017), through a strong biological diversification of agroecosystems<sup>4</sup> as well as an intensification of ecological interactions between components of the environment (Duru et al., 2015). Farmers can manage diversification of agroecosystems through crop diversification<sup>5</sup> at different scales of space (from field to landscape) and time (cropping period). Crop diversification act on two components of biodiversity: planned biodiversity (i.e. biodiversity relating to landscape heterogeneity, intercropping and crop rotation) and associated biodiversity (i.e. biodiversity that colonizes agroecosystems from surrounding environments and that will thrive in the agroecosystem depending on its management and structure; it is composed of weed flora, soil fauna, epigenetic and aerial fauna). These two components of biodiversity promote provisioning services, of course, but also supporting services (i.e. genetic biodiversity, soil formation and structure, soil fertility, nutrient cycling, provision of water) (Duru et al., 2015; Power, 2010).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Agroecosystems are complex systems in which many species interact, with ecological processes that take place at different spatial scales, and with strong interactions between ecological and management processes (Tixier et al., 2013).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> In this work, I only consider crop diversification as a way to diversify agroecosystems. So, in the rest of the manuscript, I only use the term crop diversification.

#### b. Crop diversification

Crop diversification is a lever to increase the sustainability of agricultural systems (Meynard & Messéan, 2014). This approach includes management practices such as:

- Intercropping i.e. the simultaneous cultivation of at least two species on the same plot of land for a significant period of time (Ehrmann & Ritz, 2014) refers to spatial diversification of agroecosystems.
- Crop rotation, previously defined, refers to temporal diversification of agroecosystems (in this document, I define crop rotation for crop diversification as not only the simple succession of crops over time, on the same field, but also the consideration of reciprocal benefits between crops when farmer chooses crop species and their succession over time).

Crop diversification within a farm, whether temporal or spatial, allows mutual benefits from one species to another, particularly about pest and disease regulation as well as and mineral and water supplies notably through plant soil feedback (Vukicevich et al., 2016), ecological niche complementarity<sup>6</sup>, and facilitation<sup>7</sup> (Brooker et al., 2015). Diversified agroecosystems also benefit from better plant health management thanks to their ability to shelter a large bank of natural enemies and reduce the transmission and development of diseases (Lin, 2011); moreover, a reduction in weed density and biomass is often observed due to competition<sup>8</sup> for resources and allelopathic effects<sup>9</sup> between weeds and crop species (Liebman & Dyck, 1993). In addition, increasing the number of species allows to better fulfil certain ecosystem services such as pollination and carbon sequestration (Altieri, 1999; Duru et al., 2014).

Crop diversification is also an interesting strategy for improving soil quality, defined as the capacity of soils to support biological productivity, maintain environmental quality, and promote plant and animal health (Doran & Parkin, 1994). It is important as the reduction of soil quality by erosion, chemical degradation (e.g. nutrient depletion, loss of organic matter and chemical pollution), and deterioration of physical properties (e.g. soil compaction) affects yields (D'Hose et al., 2014). Crop diversification has positive effects on the quantity of soil organic matter in the long term (Cong et al., 2015) but also on soil physical properties thanks to a better soil cover and a diversified and complementary root system (Malézieux et al., 2009). Moreover, according to Georges et al. (2012), there is a close relationship between crop diversification, productivity, and carbon storage. Finally, crop diversification allows maintaining microbial diversity in the soil, which is beneficial in terms of resilience<sup>10</sup> of the systems to biotic and abiotic stresses (Malézieux et al., 2009), due to soil functional groups perform ecosystem functions and provide goods and services. So, maintaining the diversity of these groups can be a means of maintaining or restoring ecosystem performance in the face of climate change (Swift et al., 2004).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> When plants use the same resource in a different way (in time or space) or exploit different biogeochemical forms. (Bedoussac, 2016)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> A situation where the presence of one species benefits, through the creation of favourable conditions, the installation, life or survival of other species. (Stachowicz, 2001)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Occurs when the associated plants use the same abiotic resources, in the same place and at the same time. (Bedoussac, 2016)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup>Allelopathy is one such mechanism, in which plant interference is mediated by the addition of plant produced phytotoxins to the environment. (Bastiaans & Kropff, 2003)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> The capacity of a system to respond to and recover from disturbance (Swift et al., 2004)

Nowadays, crop diversification is valued mainly at the level of extensive low-input systems and it is mainly found in the tropics, on small farms where it takes the form of intercropping (Brooker et al., 2015; Papademetriou, 2001). Globally in the tropics, the proportion of land cultivated with intercrops varies from 17% in India to 94% in Malawi (Brooker et al., 2015). Take the example of maize cultivation in Latin America: 60% of production is carried out using intercropping (Brooker et al., 2015). In temperate regions, crop diversification exists but it is mainly implemented for fodder production and organic farming (Ehrmann & Ritz, 2014).

In France, crop diversification interfere with obstacles that limit its development (Meynard & Messéan, 2014): there is a "*technological lock-in*" around few crop species (winter wheat, maize, barley, rapeseed), even though crop diversification relies on a large number of crop species for increasing the lengthening and the complexity of crop rotations. The concept of technological lock-in refers to a situation where a technology has become such a standard for society that it seems difficult to change it, even if there are other technologies that would better meet society's expectations (David, 1985). Crop species that cover little agricultural land represent a small market for seed and agrochemical companies, which limits investment on their part. Such crop species suffer from slower genetic progress and a lack of registered phytosanitary products compared to major crops (Meynard & Messéan, 2014; Voisin et al., 2014). In addition, these crop species (i) benefit from less agronomical and technological knowledge, (ii) are poorly adapted to industrial processes, and (iii) do not always comply with standards recognized by the sectors and consumers (Meynard & Messéan, 2014). Furthermore, the actors that could constitute the sectors around them are not well known (Meynard & Messéan, 2014).

According to Meynard & Messéan (2014), unlocking may occur by:

- encouraging the evolution of the agri-food standard schemes with new rules as well as the evolution of training programmes for farmers and farm advisers in order to allow the development of crop diversification beyond niche markets;
- encouraging the development of sectors around crop diversification, using locally adapted references on productivity, margins and the effect of plant soil feedback.

In this respect, in France, several research projects study crop diversification. For example, the PerfCom project lasted four years and aimed to understand the functioning of intercroppringbased agroecosystems with a view to better exploiting ecological processes and soil resources in order to improve the efficiency of fertiliser input use (Perfcom-ANR, 2012) The H2020 DIVERSify project, which started in 2017, focuses on the study of cereal-legume intercropping and has several objectives: (i) to gain a better understanding of plant-environment interactions, (ii) to create a decision support tool for the choice of crop species and spatial arrangements, and (iii) to identify the best technical approaches. On a larger scale, the European DiverIMPACTS project tests crop rotation and intercropping as a way to diversify agroecosystems. This project seeks to (i) evaluate diversified agroecosystems, (ii) provide farmers evidences of the technical, economic and societal benefits of diversification, and (iii) provide rural stakeholders with technical and organizational innovations likely to remove the current barriers at the farm, commodity chain and territorial levels.

So it is necessary to continue this work of acquiring knowledge about the benefits of crop diversification and at the same time, using the knowledge and the tools available, to design adapted agroecosystems scenarios i.e. virtual propositions of crop rotations and intercroppings and their associated crop management systems. Especially, it is particularly interesting to extend actuel studies by focusing on the relationship between diversified agroecosystems and the provision of ecosystem services over time.

c. What tools to design innovative agroecosytems including crop diversification?

According to Ertas and Jones (1996), design is "the process of developing a system, component or process that does not yet exist and that will meet identified user needs". It is an active, intentional and organized process that leads to innovation and that aims to define precisely the identity of the object, i.e. what it will be, what it will do, what it will allow to be done. To design disruptive systems based on a significant increase in crop diversification, conventional step-bystep design approach may be limited. Furthermore, this continuous improvement approach, which is characterized by low risk-taking and which facilitates the learning of new systems by stakeholders, is less suitable for studying systems over long periods of time and in a variety of soil-climate contexts.

Meynard et al. (2012) put forward another approach that opens up the field of possibilities and aims to design farms that break away from existing systems: "*de novo*" design approach. This approach mainly relies on computer modelling as a tool for a dynamic description of cropping system functioning and performances (Le Gal et al., 2010; Martin et al., 2013). Such a tool is capable of assisting the representation of biophysical, technical and decision-making processes, but also of assessing ex ante the multiple impacts of innovations on the system, a step that is difficult to achieve using an experimental approach (Le Gal et al., 2010). It can be used to simulate very broad combinations of factors over the long term, such as the combined effect of a change in fertilizer rate, cultivars, and sowing density on yield. It is also possible to represent the interactions between the components of a farm and the interactions between the farm and its physical, economic and social environment (Le Gal et al., 2010).

Crop models focus mainly on biophysical aspects with detailed descriptions of the processes and relationships that may exist between the physical and biological components (soil, water, plant, crop, etc.) of the system under consideration. They are an appropriate way to test new scenarios of agroecosystems based on crop diversification and to estimate variables related to ecosystem services. Among crop models, main ones are:

- APSIM (Agricultural Production Systems Simulator) was originally designed as an agricultural systems simulator that accurately estimates production in response to manure and can provide long-term predictions of farming practices on the land (Keating et al., 2003);
- DSSAT (Decision Support System for Agrotechnology Transfer) was developed to integrate knowledge on climate, soil, crops and their management, in order to facilitate the transfer of production methods in places where the soil or climate differed (Jones et al., 2003);
- STICS (Simulateur mulTIdisciplinaire pour les Cultures Standard) developed since 1996 (Brisson, 2008; Brisson et al., 2003) has three main objectives: (i) to accurately predict yields under the influence of environmental practices and conditions, (ii) to summarize the knowledge acquired in ecophysiology and agronomy, and (iii) to serve as a basis for adapting technical itineraries according to pedoclimates (Brisson, 2008; Brisson et al., 2003; Keating et al., 2003).

They are all computer models developed from independent modules which through a set of equations represent ecophysiological processes (e.g. phenological development, leaf growth, radiation interception and photosynthesis, yield and quality development, root growth, water balance, soil nitrogen transformations, water and nitrate transfers). In this way, the addition and creation of new modules is simplified, which facilitates the subsequent evolution of these models. They can simulate the growth and development of many crops as well as the dynamics

of water, carbon and nitrogen on a daily scale. They are initialized by input variables accessible to researchers (Brisson et al., 2003) i.e. variables concerning climate, soil and cropping system (sowing date, sowing density, fertilization, water availability, etc.). According to the publications that use these models, they are rather suitable for the design of agroecosystem that seek to optimize the efficiency of input use. For example, APSIM was recently used in a project to model the effects of tillage on productivity, soil water dynamics and evapotranspiration in a maize / winter wheat / soybean rotation in China (Yang et al., 2018). In parallel, the STICS model is being used in an integrated protection design project. To this end, it has been encapsulated in a bio-aggressor model and a decision model in order to integrate an economic and epidemiological analysis (Bergez et al., 2014). However, despite all the power of these models, they remain open to criticism and it is essential to check whether they adapt well to the pedoclimatic context in which we wish to simulate crop diversification scenarios.

### 3. Issue

Current farming systems have many issues, particularly related to their negative impacts on the environment. Crop diversification, which acts on planned biodiversity as well as associated biodiversity, is a solution for designing disruptive sustainable farming systems, able to provide several ecosystem services.

Designing such farming systems including various levels of crop diversification via crop rotation and intercropping needs crop modelling because it allows assessing ecosystem services provided by a wide range of virtual systems, on different climate-soil contexts, on a long-term basis. Consequently, my work was to define detailed characteristics that a crop model should have to simulate crop diversification and its consequences on various ecosystem services relevant in Brittany region. Indeed, it is a region where specialized intensive agricultural systems dominate and have an impact on the environment with water contamination, greenhouse gas emissions or declining soil quality (Lemaire et al., 2014). Furthermore, my work aimed to select the best crop model according to the detailed characteristics I proposed and to test its relevance in Brittany region.

The main objective of my work was to test a crop model capable of representing a diversified agroecosystem, in various pedoclimatic contexts, and capable of simulating various variables related to the provision of ecosystem services over time. To this end, it was first questioned what were the main and essential characteristics that such a crop model should have. Through a conceptual agroecosystem modelling approach (Lamanda et al., 2012) and according to our expectations, an "*ideal*" system was established. Subsequently, 3 crop models (APSIM, DSSAT and STICS) were compared to the conceptual model in order to identify which of these crop models is best suited to implement this ideal system. Finally, in order to use one of these models for a larger study, an analysis of the accuracy of the chosen crop model was carried out.

## 4. Materials and methods

a. Conceptual modelling of an agroecosystem (CMA) based on crop diversification

To define detailed characteristics a crop model should have to simulate crop diversification and its consequences on various ecosystem services, I decided to use the protocol described by Lamanda et al. (2012). I used it as a guideline to propose a conceptual representation of an agroecosystem that includes (i) crop management practices related to crop diversification and

(ii) processes related to ecosystem services. The protocol of Lamanda et al. (2012) is organized in four steps.

The first step is the **structural analysis** of the system. It consists in defining the limits of the system, its components, and its environment:

- The limits of the system are most often conceptualized "*as a volume defined by a soil area, a soil depth and a canopy height*".
- The components of the system, called the Basic Agroecosystem Process (BAP) (Launay, 2017), are biophysical entities (e.g. plants), basic crop processes (e.g. photosynthesis) or sub-systems. They interact with each other and with the environment and are characterized by one or more attributes (i.e. one or more state variables and parameters). BAPs are chosen sparingly, taking into account available knowledge and data. Only those with the greatest influence on the system are retained.
- The environment of the system includes biophysical, economic, social, or institutional aspects. Environment is breaking down into active and passive environments. The active environment corresponds to "the elements from other systems that act on the system related to the problem (e.g. the climate and the technical system used by the farmers)". The passive environment includes the outputs of the system, which can be indicators of its performance (e.g. energy use efficiency) as well as the services it provides to other systems (e.g. habitats for wildlife).

The second step is the **functional analysis**: the main hypotheses on the relationships between the BAPs as well as between the BAPs and the environments are identified. According to Lamanda et al. (id), these relationships are represented as (i) flows of materials (e.g. water, nitrogen, phosphorus), energy (e.g. light) or information (e.g. root to shoot signals), and (ii) actions (e.g. impact of tillage on soil structure, influence of pest and disease on production).

The third step is the **dynamic analysis**: it provides a dynamic dimension to the system: this involves studying how the structure and relationships are modified over the life of the system. This step can lead to modify the previous ones by removing or adding BAP's or relationships that appear essential (or not) at a given moment in the life of the system.

Finaly the last step is as step which allow to validate the consistency of our system. It is important to check that all elements are correctly represented and linked to the system.

To build a conceptual model adapted to the problem we defined, I decided to go through a literature review to select the most relevant BAPs and their relationships. The decision rules presented in Figure 1 allowed me to classify, according to whether they are relevant or not, the information found in the bibliography concerning effects of agroecosystems and their management on ecosystem services.

b. Crop simulation model comparison

In this second part of my research work, I verified that some existing crop simulation models (i) include management practices listed in the *active environment* of the conceptual model I proposed, (ii) represent relationships included in the conceptual model I proposed, and (iii) simulate outputs listed in the *passive environment* of the conceptual model I proposed.

Three crop simulation models were pre-selected using the agMIP platform (agricultural Model Intercomparison and improvement Project, a structure that aims to improve agricultural models and scientific and technological capabilities): APSIM, DSSAT, and STICS. They were chosen because they are widely used and included many crops and parameterization in their formalism.



Figure 1: Decision tree allowing to rank the effects related to agroecosystems and its management known in literature. In green the effects of agroecosystem and its management has to be taken account in the construction of the conceptual-model; in red the effects of agroecosystem and its management are not necessary for the construction of conceptual-model. Management of the agroecosystem includes farmer practices such as the choice of crop rotations and crop management systems.

**APSIM** (Keating et al., 2003) consists of (i) a set of biophysical modules that simulate at a daily time step biological and physical processes in agricultural systems, (ii) management modules that allow users to specify the expected management rules that characterize the simulated scenario and control the simulation process, and (iii) a simulation engine that drives the simulation process and controls all information passing between the modules. The different crop modules allow users to simulate growth and development of about 30 crop species (it includes grassland and forest systems). The simulation of multi-species mixtures (intercropping) is also included.

**DSSAT** integrates soil, climate, crop and management knowledge with the capacity to simulate a system at a daily time step. It optimizes the transfer of production technologies from one area to another where soils and climates differ. In addition, DSSAT facilitates decision-making by reducing the time and human resources required to analyse complex alternative solutions. It also provides a framework for scientific cooperation to integrate new knowledge and apply it to research questions (Jones et al., 2003).

**STICS** simulates growth and development of a crop, as well as the water and nitrogen balances, at a daily time step. It is recognized for its robustness and its plasticity thanks to a large choice of options in the formalisms and its large number of integrated crops (Brisson, 2008; Salo et al., 2016). The model is adapted to 32 crop species, annuals, perennials, herbaceous or woody. The input variables required for its operation concern the soil, the climate, the crop management system and the crop itself. Output variables are related to yield, environment (quantity of nitrates leached, nitrous oxide emission, etc.) and some dynamic soil characteristics (e.g. soil organic carbon, soil organic nitrogen, etc.). In 2004, a version integrating intercrops was made available (Brisson et al., 2004).

c. Scenarios of cropping systems for the selected crop simulation model

The last part of my research work focussed on the most appropriate crop model to represent the conceptual model I proposed. It consisted in:

- validating that the selected crop model works for some crops and climate-soil context of the Brittany region;
- studying how outputs related to ecosystem services are simulated over time in this crop model;
- defining the accuracy required for the input data, in particular those relating to the soil description.

The last two steps have been studied in order to be able to use the model to assess on a longterm basis, effects of crop diversification scenarios, designed with expert knowledge (therefore with variable data accuracy), on various ecosystem services.

Regarding the model validation, the EFELE experiment (Le Rheu, France) was chosen as a reference to compare some crop model outputs with field observations (crop yields measured at harvest; volumetric water content at 15-cm depth, measured daily; soil organic carbon content and soil organic nitrogen content measured at 0-25 cm depth in March 2012 and March 2016). Data from this experiment was also used for the two other steps.

EFELE is an experiment dedicated to the long-term characterization of the effect of repeated applications of organic products from livestock farms (slurry, manure, compost, digestates) on soil, water, and air quality. Experimental monitoring began in 2012 and the crop rotation studied is Maize / Wheat / Mustard (as a cover crop during the fallow period). Two trials are carried out on the EFELE experiment; data from the trial "TS/MO" was used. This trial focuses on the

interaction between tillage (ploughing, reduced tillage) and type of fertilizer (mineral fertilizer, cattle manure) on the dynamics of the soil organic matter and the micropollutants.

Based on the climate-soil context (Appendix 1) and the crop management systems of the "TS/MO" trial, four runs will be implemented on the selected crop model (Table 1). The separation of the simulations in successive steps is explained by the fact that I did not routinely manipulate any of the 3 crop models. Thus, this approach will allow me to progressively understand the functioning of the chosen model.

Name of the simulation run	Run number	Crop rotation	Climate year	Output variable	
Monocropping	1	Maize	2012-2014-2016-2018	yield, biomass	
	2	Wheat	2013-2015-2017-2019	yield, biomass	
Rotation 1	3	Maize / Wheat / Fallow	2012 to 2019	yield, biomass, SWC, SOC, SON, P, N2O, CO2, N leaching, soil losses	
Rotation 2	4	Maize / Wheat / Cover crop	2012 to 2019	yield, biomass, SWC, SOC, SON, P, N2O, CO2, N leaching, soil losses	

Table 1: Short description of the simulation runs. From 2012-2019, crop rotation on the EFELE experiment was Maize / Wheat / Mustard.

Abbreviations: SWC soil water content; SOC soil organic carbon content; SON soil organic nitrogen content; P phosphorus content; N<sub>2</sub>O nitrous oxide content; CO<sub>2</sub> carbon dioxide content; N nitrate

The first two runs simulated the growth of a single crop (maize, wheat) over the climatic year corresponding to the real period of presence of the crops on the EFELE experiment. So, these are not continuous simulations over the 8 years. These first two runs served as the basis for the simulation of the next two runs and aimed to take control of the software by simulating simplified runs with very basic outputs. The third run was closer to the reality with the implementation of a Maize / Wheat / Fallow rotation; outputs related to ecosystem services ( $CO_2$  and  $N_2O$  emissions, erosion, and nitrate leaching) and to soil organic matter dynamics were calculated. Yields at harvest, soil water content dynamics, and soil organic matter dynamics were compared to EFELE's data (simulated vs. observed data; Piñeiro et al., 2008). Finally, the last run aimed to represent as much as possible the cropping pattern on EFELE with the establishment of a cover crop during the fallow period.

Regarding the accuracy required for the input data, I tested soils with a level of description of the soil layers degraded with respect to the initial soil : first, the initial soil was layered in two horizons (0-25 cm; 25-90) then in one horizon (0-90 cm)

Crop management systems of the EFELE experiment are detailed in Table 2. Main characteristics of the soil and climatic years are presented in Table 3 and Figure 2.

The statistical parameters used to evaluated the crop simulation model performances are as follows (Tedeschi, 2006): observed and simulated mean and standard deviation, root mean square error (RMSE) and correlation coefficient of concordance (CCC).

$$RMSE = \sqrt{\frac{\sum_{i=1}^{n} (Xobs, i - Xmodel, i)^2}{n}} \qquad CCC = \frac{2\sigma_{XY}}{\sigma_{XX} + \sigma_{YY} + (\mu_X - \mu_Y)^2}$$

The CCC varies between -1 and 1 and combines (i) precision through Pearson's correlation coefficient, which represents the proportion of the total variance in the observed data that can be explained by the selected crop model, and (ii) accuracy by bias which indicates how far the regression line deviates from the line (1:1). A value of CCC = +1 corresponds to perfect positive agreement. A value of CCC = -1 corresponds to perfect negative agreement. A value of CCC = 0 corresponds to no agreement. The crop model performance can be evaluated according to the following limits: "*very good*" when CCC > 0.90, "*satisfactory*" when 0.90 < CCC < 0.80, "*acceptable*" when 0.80 < CCC < 0.70 and "*poor*" when CCC < 0.70 (Ojeda et al., 2018). RMSE and CCC calculations were performed using R Core Team (2019).

Table 2 Crop management systems of the EFELE experiment for the plots with conventional tillage and mineral fertilizer supply.

Tillage	N mineral fertilisation	P mineral fertilisation
Deep plowing to a depth of 25 cm	N applied as ammonium nitrate, with a mean dose of 92 kg N/ha on maize and 118 kg N/ha on wheat	Annual input of 50 kg of P <sub>2</sub> O <sub>5</sub> /ha

Table 3: Main characteristics of the simulated soil created with EFELE data: depth, soil water content (SWC) at three pressure heads (near saturation (-3.2 kPa), field capacity (-31.6 kPa) and permanent wilting point (-1585 kPa)), percentage of organic carbon (OC), pH, quantity of nitrate (NO<sub>3</sub>) and ammonium (NH<sub>4</sub>).

Depth	Bulk	SWC			OC	РН	NO <sub>3</sub>	$\mathbf{NH}_4$
(cm)	density	-1585 kPa	-31.6 kPa	-3.2 kPa	(%)	111	(ppm)	(ppm)
0-15	1.266	0.114	0.376	0.432	1.11	6.1	3.5	2.7
15-25	1.310	0.115	0.362	0.430	1.06	6.1	1.7	1.1
25-60	1.465	0.110	0.330	0.420	0.62	6.3	2.1	0.3
60-90	1.540	0.110	0.330	0.410	0.33	7	3.3	0.3



Figure 2: Annual rainfall at EFELE (Le Rheu, France). For 2019, this is not the total rainfall, but rainfall between January and August.

## 5. Results

a. A conceptual model of an agroecosystem based on crop diversification

#### Structural analysis

The system to represent was defined as a field consisting of its soil profile and its aerial environment (Figure 3).

The passive environment, containing the conceptual model outputs, provides variables informing on ecosystem services, classified by the CICES V5.1 as provisioning, regulation, and maintenance services (Haines-Young & Potschin, 2017): production, regulation of greenhouse gases, control of erosion, soil water quality and supply, carbon storage, and nitrogen and phosphorus regulation (Table 4).

The active environment contains elements that act on the system: climate, crop management system and crop rotation (i.e. the cropping system), and environmental properties. In the active environment, climate includes air temperature, rainfall, radiation and gases. The cropping system is described by the tillage, the fertilisation, the crop diversification (sole cropping/intercropping/rotation), the sowing and harvesting, and the different other farmer practices (pesticides use, irrigation, liming) that take place during one year in the field. Environmental properties are represented by the type of soil as well as the landscape elements that border the system.

It was chosen to represent BAPs as subsystems, in the field, that interact between them. These subsystems evolve under the influence of the agroecosystem and its management and intervene in the provision of ecosystem services. So, the conceptual model consists of eight main BAPs:

- soil organic matter, subdivided into 3 pools called "*Fresh*", "*Labile*", and "Stable";
- soil mineral pool, subdivided into "*Nitrogen*", "*Carbon*", and "*Phosphorus*";
- soil structure;
- water availability;
- biological activity;
- crop;
- weeds;
- pests and diseases.

Each BAP is described by variables that characterize its state over time. Whereas the type of crop diversification (intercropping/crop rotation) is in the active environment, crop species and their development are considered as a BAP; it allows interaction with weeds and pests and diseases BAPs to represent biotic pressures that may limit production.

#### Functional analysis

Bibliographic analysis allows me to identify the main relationships that occur in the system of the conceptual model; they are presented in detail Appendix 2. In the context of this work, these relationships mainly concern the elements of the active environment related to crop diversification (Figure 3). These relationships reflect effects that may exist between the elements of the active environment and the BAPs, and between the BAPs themselves; these relationships also reflect effects of the BAPs on the elements of the passive environment i.e. on the variables that represent ecosystem services.

System: field soil profile + aerial environment





Figure 3: Conceptual model of an agroecosystem based on crop diversification. In the center part of the figure, the BAPs are represented. Variables that characterize each BAP are shown in italics, below the corresponding BAP's. Variables influencing the system are listed in the active environment related to crop diversification are bold. Table 4: Variables of the passive environment ordered according to (i) the CICES V5.1 classification (Haines-Young & Potschin, 2017) and (ii) the time scale necessary for the variables of the active environment to have an effect on them. References for this ordering are listed. About the CICES V5.1 classification: the highest level are the categories, called "Services", used in the Millennium Ecosystem Assessment (2005), "provisioning", "regulation and maintenance". Below these "Services" are a series of "Divisions", "Groups" and "Classes".

Reference	<ul> <li>Lehman R.M. Osborne SL, Duke SE (2017) Diversified no-till Crop Rotation Reduces Nitrous Oxide Emissions, Increases Soybean Yields, and Promotes Soil Carbon Accmal. Soil Sci Soc Am J 81:76–83.</li> <li>Li C, JEK, Zhu S, et al (2009) Crop diversity for yield increase. PloS One 4:e8049.</li> <li>Nurse NR, van EB FM, Schindelbeck R, et al (2018) No-till and cropping system diversification improve soil health and croppied Genema 323:04.3.</li> <li>Paut R, Sabatier R, Tcharnitchian M (2020) Modelling crop diversification and association effects in agricultural systems. Agric Ecosyst Environ 288:106/711.</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Buragienė S, Šarauskis E, Romaneckas K, et al (2019) Relationship between CO2 emissions and soll properties of differently tilled solls. Sci Total Environ 662:786–795.</li> <li>Dyer L, Oelbermann M, Echarte L (2012) Soil carbon dioxide and nitrous oxide emissions during the growing eason from temperate maize-soybean intercrops. J Plant Nurt Soll Sci 17:394–400.</li> <li>Huang J, Sui P, Gao W, Chen Y (2019) Effects of Maize-Soybean intercropping on Nitrous Oxide Emissions from a Sit Loam Soil in the North China Plain. Pedosphere 92:764–772.</li> <li>Lehman RM, Osborne SL, Duke SE (2017) Diversified no-till Crop Rotation Reduces Nitrous Oxide Emissions, Increases Soybean Yields, and Promotes Soil Carbon Accrual. Soil Sci Soc Am J 81:76–83.</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Bogunovic I, Pereira P, Kisic I, et al (2018) Tillage management impacts on soil compaction, erosion and crop yield in Stagnosols (Croatia). CATENA 160:376–384.</li> <li>Laloy E, Bielders CL (2010) Effect of Intercropping Period Management on Runoff and Erosion in a Maize Cropping System. J Environ Qual 39:1001–1008.</li> <li>Wall GJ, Pringle EA, Sheard RW (1991) Intercropping red clover with silage corn for soil erosion control. Can J Sol Sci 71:137–145.</li> <li>Personnal communication with Christian walter (L'Institut Agro – AGROCAMPUS OUEST).</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>De Notaris C, Rasmussen J, Sørensen P, Olesen JE (2018) Nitrogen leaching: A crop rotation perspective on the effect of N surphy, field management and use of catch crops. Agric Ecosyst Environ 255:1–11.</li> <li>Manevisi K, Børgesen CD, Andersen MN, Kristensen IS (2015) Reduced mirogen leaching by intercropping maize with red fescue on sandy soils in North Europe: a combined field and modeling study. Plant Soil 388:67–53.</li> <li>Personnal communication with Patrick Durand (INRAE).</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Bordovsky JP, Lyle WM, Keeling JW (1994) Crop Rotation and Tillage Effects on Soil Water and Cotton Yield. Agron J 86:1-6.</li> <li>Chen G, Kong X, Gan Y, et al (2018) Enhancing the systems productivity and water use efficiency through coordinated soil water sharing and compensation in strip-intercropping. Sci Rep 8:1–11.</li> <li>Personnal communication with Patrick Durand (INRAE).</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Cong W.F. Hoffland E, Li L, et al (2015a) Intercropping enhances soil carbon and nitrogen. Glob Change Biol 21:1715–1726.</li> <li>Cong W.F. Hoffland E, Li L, et al (2015b) Intercropping affects the rate of decomposition of soil or ganic matter and root litter. Plant Soil 391:399–411.</li> <li>Pellerin S, Bamiete L, Launay C, et al (2019). Stocker du carbone dans les sols français, Quel potentiel au regard de l'opictif 4 pour 1000 et à quel coit? Résumé du rapport d'énde, INRA (France), 114 p.</li> <li>Yang Y, Tihman D, Furey G, Lehman C (2019) Soil carbon sequestration accelerated by restoration of grassland biodiversity. Nat Commun 10:1–7.</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Cong W.F. Hoffland E, Li I., et al (2015a) Intercropping enhances soil carbon and nitrogen. Glob Change Biol 21:1715–1726.</li> <li>Latai M, Blavet D, Alkama N, et al (2014) The intercropping cowpea-maize improves soil phosphorus availability and maize yields in an alkaline soil. Plant Soil 38:181–191.</li> <li>Li Y.Y. Yu C.B, et al (2011) Crop nitrogen use and soil mineral nitrogen accumulation under different crop combinations of stup intercropping in northwest China. Plant Soil 34:221–231.</li> <li>Lukowiak R, Grzebisz W, Sassenrath GF (2016) New insights into phosphorus management in agriculture — A crop rotation approach. Sci Total Environ 542:1002–1077.</li> </ul>
Time scale	Crop cycle to pluri-annual	Infra-annual to pluri-annual	Infra-annual to pluri-annual	Infra-annual to pluri-annual	Infra-annual to pluri-annual	Annual to pluri-annual	Infra-annual to pluri-annual
Class	Cultivated terrestrial plants (e.g fungi, algae) grown for nutritional purposes	Regulation of chemical composition of atmosphere	Control of erosion rates	Regulation of the chemical condition of freshwaters by living processes	Ground water used as a material (non- drinking purposes)	Decomposition and fixing processes and their effect on soil quality	Decomposition and fixing processes and their effect on soil quality
Group	Cultivated terrestrial plants for nutrition, materials or energy	Atmospheric composition and conditions	Regulation of baseline flows and extreme events	Water conditions	Ground water for used for nutrition, materials or energy	Regulation of soil quality	Regulation of soil quality
Division	Biomass	Regulation of physical, chemical, biological conditions	Regulation of physical, chemical, biological conditions	Water	Water	Regulation of physical, chemical, biological conditions	Regulation of physical, chemical, biological conditions
Services	Provisioning	Regulation and maintenance	Regulation and maintenance	Regulation and maintenance	Provisionning	Regulation and maintenance	Regulation and maintenance
Code CICES	TILL	2.2.6.1	2.2.1.1	2.2.5.1	4.2.2.2	2.2.4.2	2.2.4.2
Output	Production	Greenhouse gases regulation	Erosion control	Water quality	Water supply	Carbon storage	Nitrogen and phosphorus regulation

As far as possible, I tried to select studies where the pedoclimatic conditions are similar to those observed in Brittany to design the conceptual model. To resume the bibliographic synthesis (detailed in Appendix 2), the main type of diversification described concerns intercropping. The second most frequently described type of diversification after intercropping is the implementation of crop rotations. Generally, these systems are compared with monocropping. If the relationship between an ecosystem service and a type of diversification is not described, the relationship between the ecosystem service and crops that could be used to promote diversification was investigated. For example, with respect to erosion, aggregate stabilization and they have direct influence on erosion and leaching. So, their effects on ecosystem services were included in the synthesis. Then, to complete the influence of our system on the provision of ecosystem services, the effect of some crop management practices other than crop diversification was included in the analysis.

#### Dynamic analysis

The system evolves over times, and the intensity of relationships mentioned in the functional analysis may decrease (even disappear) or increase (detailed scheme of the dynamic analysis is attached in Appendix 3).

Following Lamanda et al (2012), and to improve understanding of dynamic analysis, each relationship was expressed as an assumption between two elements of our conceptual modelling (variables of the active environment, BAPs, variables of the passive environment). These assumptions explain why the elements of the active environment are related to the BAPs (HAE, hypotheses active environment), how the BAPs are related to each other (HBAP, hypotheses BAP) and how these BAPs are related to the passive environment (HPE, hypotheses passive environment).

Most of the relationships, e.g the influence of climate on crop, occur at an infra-annual level, during the first year of cultivation; for example, among the 15 relationships represented in the dynamic analysis regarding the effect of crop diversification on production only 4 occur over longer periods of time (Appendix 3). However, some relationships have an effect on the passive environment only on a multi-year scale. For example, according to the bibliography, changes in soil organic matter and rate of mineralization are only perceptible on a 7-year scale for sandy loam soil and changes in the stock of labile phosphorus are only visible after 4 years (Table 4).

Finally, changes over time in some relationships will depend on the type of crop diversification (sole cropping / intercropping / crop rotation). If one compares a scenario with bare soil during the winter period vs a scenario with a cover crop during the winter period, there is an immediate effect on erosion regulation and nitrate leaching (personal communication, Christian Walter, L'Institut Agro – AGROCAMPUS OUEST). However, the comparison between a poorly diversified plant cover and a diversified plant cover suggests a significant effect on erosion only on the scale of several years.

b. Comparison of crop simulation models using our conceptual model of an agroecosystem based on crop diversification

Three crop models – APSIM, DDSAT, and STICS – were compared in their capacity to retranscribe (i) the elements of the active and passive environments of our conceptual model, (ii) the BAPs, and (iii) the main relationships between active environment, passive environment, and BAPs.

At the model output level (Table 5), each crop model is able to simulate and provide indicators on yield, carbon dioxide emissions from soil, nitrate leaching, soil water status, soil organic carbon and soil organic nitrogen contents. However, erosion and phosphorus mobilization processes are not taken into account in the STICS formalism (Brisson, 2008; Brisson et al., 2003). Concerning DSSAT, the description of nitrous oxides fluxes and soil losses are not yet available in the current versions of the model (Jones et al., 2003; Porter et al., 2010).

	Production	GHG regulat	ion	Erosion control	Water supply	quality and	C storage	N and I	dynamics
	Yield	CO2	N2O	Soil loss	Water status	Nitrate leaching	SOC	SON	Available P
APSIM	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
DSSAT	Yes	Yes	No	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
STICS	Yes	Yes	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	No

Table 5: Outputs of conceptual model that APSIM, DSSAT and STICS can simulate

GHG, greenhouse gases; C, carbon; N, nitrogen; P, phosphorus; SOC, soil organic carbon; soil organic nitrogen

Unlike STICS, a soil phophorus module exists in DSSAT but it is poorly documented. Only APSIM is capable of simulating each of the outputs of our conceptual model with well-described modules (Keating et al., 2003; O'Leary et al., 2016).

As far as BAPs of our conceptual model are concerned, some are not able to be represented by the models. This is notably the case for the biological activity of the soil. Then, only APSIM and DSSAT have modules to represent the weed competition and its effects on soil water and nutrient resources. DSSAT presents a pest module (Jones et al., 2003). It allows users to input field observations on insect populations or damage, disease severity, to simulate the effects of specified pests and diseases on growth and yield. However, this aspect of the impact of pests and diseases and weeds will be left aside because their consideration in the formalism of the cited models remains simplistic and could complicate, at this stage, the validation step for the selected crop model. For the rest of the BAPs, soil organic matter is simulated in a similar way between the 3 crop models with 3 pools. Each of the models used "tipping bucket" approach for soil water balance. Nitrogen loss due to denitrification was modelled as a function of soil temperature and water content in all models. Mineralization of soil organic matter was controlled at least by soil temperature and moisture, and in addition with STICS soil clay content and soil calcium contents were used as control variables for organic nitrogen mineralization. APSIM and STICS include the process of phenological response to nitrogen stress. The bulk density is considered in the soil organic matter processes and is used in the water movement calculations in all models (Brisson et al., 2003; Jones et al., 2003; Keating et al., 2003; Porter et al., 2010; Probert et al., 1998; Salo et al., 2016).

As far as the active environment is concerned, the 3 crop models can simulate crop rotations and intercropping. However, with STICS, for the moment only one barley-pea intercropping is available. APSIM seems to be the most developed model on this point with the possibility to simulate more species mixture for intercropping (Chimonyo et al., 2016; Dimes et al., 2011; Knoerzer et al., 2011). The management modules of these 3 models make it possible to carry out several farm practices: sowing, mineral and organic fertilisation, irrigation, soil tillage, harvesting. The effects of tillage on soil bulk density and compaction of ploughed soil due to subsequent precipitation are both considered by DSSAT and STICS. (Maharjan et al., 2018).

Concerning the quality of these models, a recent study tested 11 crop simulation models including APSIM, DSSAT and STICS, using spring barley dataset under various nitrogen

fertiliser rates from three experimental years in Finland (Salo et al., 2016). The models were calibrated using data from 2002 to 2008. Thus, in 2008, concerning the calibration of yield, STICS showed good performance with low RMSE values and index of agreement values close to 1 in relation to other models. On the other hand, DSSAT was one of the models with the worst performance for the grain yield. Calibration results for phenology did not correspond perfectly with the observed data; however, the 3 models were among those with the lowest RMSE for anthesis and maturity dates. Other information that emerges from this study was that the models that perform best in their LAI estimation with all N rates like APSIM, did not perform better in crop yield estimation.

Thus, by its capacity to simulate all the outputs of the conceptual model and its quality which remains suitable compared to other models, APSIM was chosen for the rest of the work.

#### c. Simulations with APSIM

APSIM validation for maize and wheat in a temperate climate and for a silty loam soil (EFELE experiment)

As APSIM does not have a mustard crop module to simulate the cover crop of the EFELE experiment, I used a rapeseed crop module to simulate a mustard-like cover crop. In the same way, the maize cultivars sown on the EFELE experiment were not available on APSIM: following Morel et al. (2018), a cultivar was created. For wheat, a cultivar registered in the catalogue of cultivars of the European Union was used (Claire; *EU Plant variety database* (v.3.2.1), 2020). Finally, as the rapeseed module of APSIM does not take into account the phosphorus the simulation of phosphorus in rotation 2 was not possible.



Figure 4: Observed vs. simulated dry matter (DM) yield for maize and wheat in the EFELE experiment ("TS/MO" trial; "conventional tillage/mineral fertilizer" treatment) in 2012-2019. Monocropping simulations correspond to runs 1 and 2; rotation 1 (run 3) is Maize / Wheat / Fallow; rotation 2 (run 4) is Maize / Wheat / Cover crop. Wheat crop is represented by yellow marks and maize crop by green marks.

Simulated crop yield ranged from 12.7 to 21.2 t ha<sup>-1</sup> for maize and from 4.9 t ha<sup>-1</sup> to 8.7 t ha<sup>-1</sup> for wheat while observed crop yield ranged from 18.0 to 22.7 t ha<sup>-1</sup> for maize and from 6.6 to 8.2 t ha<sup>-1</sup> for wheat (Figure 4). The difference between simulated and observed crop yields was higher for maize than for wheat; consequently, better model accuracy for predicting crop yield was highlighted for wheat, with lower RMSE values and increasing CCC values (Table 6). Better model accuracy was obtained with monocropping simulations whereas rotation 1 simulation presented the worst statistical parameters. According to Ojeda et al (2018), the performance of the crop model for yield simulation is in the "*poor*" category (CCC < 0.70).

	Monocrop	oping	Maize / Wh	ieat / Fallow	Maize / Wheat / Cover crop		
	Maize	Wheat	Maize	Wheat	Maize	Wheat	
No. Obs	4	4	4	4	4	4	
Observed data - mean (t ha <sup>-1</sup> )	19.95	7.24	19.95	7.24	19.95	7.24	
Simulated data- mean (t ha <sup>-1</sup> )	16.78	7.23	16.71	6.11	16.67	7.32	
Observed data - SD (t ha-1)	1.96	0.72	1.96	0.72	1.96	0.72	
Simulated data- SD (t ha <sup>-1</sup> )	4.03	0.98	4.03	1.15	3.98	1.50	
RMSE (t ha-1)	5.90	0.91	5.93	1.71	5.91	1.27	
CCC	-0.38	0.25	-0.37	-0.01	-0.37	0.23	

Table 6: Statistical summary on the accuracy of APSIM to simulate crop dry matter yield for maize and wheat in the EFELE experiment ("TS/MO" trial; "conventional tillage/mineral fertilizer" treatment) in 2012-2019.

No. Obs, number of observations; SD, standard deviation; RMSE, root mean square error; CCC, concordance correlation coefficient.



Figure 5: Observed vs. simulated volumetric water content (%) at 15-depth cm in the EFELE experiment ("TS/MO" trial; "conventional tillage/mineral fertilizer" treatment) in 2012-2019. Rotation 1 (run 3) is Maize / Wheat / Fallow; rotation 2 (run 4) is Maize / Wheat / Cover crop.

Regarding data on volumetric water content, good agreement between observed and simulated data was found for both rotation simulations (Figure 5), with values that indicate acceptable crop model accuracy: CCC values were 0.79 and 0.78 for rotations 1 and 2, respectively (Table 7). However, rotation 2 simulation had an RMSE value 0.25 point higher than rotation 1 simulation, with an overestimation of volumetric water content at 15 cm greater in 2016 and 2018 (Figure 6).



Figure 6: Evolution over 8 years (2012-2019) of volumetric water content (%) at 15-cm depth for rotation 1, Maize / Wheat / Fallow, rotation 2, Maize / Wheat / Cover crop, and on EFELE experiment ("TS/MO" trial; "conventional tillage/mineral fertilizer" treatment).

Table 7: Statistical summary on the accuracy of APSIM to simulate volumetric water content (%) at 15-cm depth in the EFELE experiment ("TS/MO" trial; "conventional tillage/mineral fertilizer" treatment) in 2012-2019. Rotation 1 (run 3) is Maize / Wheat / Fallow; rotation 2 (run 4) is Maize / Wheat / Cover crop.

	Rotation 1	Rotation 2
No. Obs	1840	1840
Observed data - mean (%)	29.00	29.00
Simulated data mean (%)	30.42	30.55
Observed data - SD (%)	7.37	7.37
Simulated data- SD (%)	7.90	8.01
RMSE (%)	4.93	5.18
CCC	0.79	0.78

*No. Obs, number of observations; SD, standard deviation; RMSE, root mean square error; CCC, concordance correlation coefficient.* 

As far as amount of soil organic carbon and amount of soil organic nitrogen were concerned, differences between rotation 1 and rotation 2 simulations appeared during the year 2016 with higher values for rotation 2 simulation than for rotation 1 simulation (Figure 7). Whatever simulations, periods of high soil organic carbon increase correspond to the simulated incorporation of crop residues into the Fresh Organic Matter pool by tillage. To evaluate APSIM accuracy for soil organic carbon and soil organic nitrogen data, simulated data were compared with observed data measured on March 15, 2012 and March 16, 2016 in the EFELE experiment. Simulated data of soil organic carbon and soil organic nitrogen was similar to

observed data in the EFELE experiment, particularly for soil organic nitrogen for rotation 2 in March 2016. The amount of soil organic carbon and soil organic nitrogen increased for both observed and simulated data, with a difference of a few points for soil organic carbon (rotation 2: 2.13 t ha<sup>-1</sup>; rotation 1: 2.31 t ha<sup>-1</sup>) but negligible in terms of carbon storage.



Figure 7: Evolution over 8 years (2012-2019) of simulation of (a) soil organic nitrogen stocks, and (b) soil organic carbon stocks between 0-25 cm for rotation 1 "Maize (M) / Wheat (W) / Fallow" and rotation 2 "Maize (M) / Wheat (W) / Cover crop (C)". The two points of measurements made on EFELE are indicated in grey and the arrows represent the incorporation of crop residues into the pool of fresh organic matter by tillage.

#### Simulation over time of output related to ecosystem services

This part concerns variables simulated by APSIM, not monitored on the EFELE experiment ("*TS/MO*" trial; "*conventional tillage/mineral fertilizer*" treatment) i.e. variables that represent effects of rotation 1 and rotation 2 on ecosystem services identified in the conceptual model. These variables are nitrous oxide and dioxide carbon emission from soil, nitrate leaching and soil erosion, the evolution of extractable soil water and soil phosphorus (Figures 8, 9, and 10).



Figure 8: Comparison for maize period, wheat period and fallow/cover crop periods ("other") of (a) average dioxide carbon  $(CO_2)$  emissions, (b) average nitrous oxide emissions  $(N_2O)$ , (c) average cumulative soil losses, and (d) average nitrate leaching between rotation 1 and rotation 2 simulations (2012-2019). The amount of nitrous oxide emissions has been converted into carbon dioxide equivalent using the global warming power at 100 years of nitrous oxide stated in the fifth report of the GIEC (2013).

During the 2012-2019 period, on the one hand, rotation 1 simulation – without cover crop – had the least carbon dioxide emissions from maize and wheat production (Figure 8a). On the other hand, although simulated quantities were low, rotation 1 simulation had the most nitrous oxide emissions (Figure 8b): for this variable, maize production emitted more nitrous oxyde. As the field slope on the EFELE experiment is only 2%, the simulated amount of average cumulative soil loss is very low and does not exceed 0.4 t ha<sup>-1</sup>, except during the fallow/cover crop period and only for rotation 1, where an average of 1.1 t ha<sup>-1</sup> of soil loss is reached over this period (Figure 8c). Simulations for rotation 1 and rotation 2 also differed in nitrate leaching (Figure 8d): for rotation 2 simulation, on average, 41 % less nitrate left the soil profile during the inbetween two main crop period. Notice that there was also a delayed effect of the cover crop as it reduced leaching during maize and wheat production.

As far as the evolution of labile phosphorus was concerned (Figure 9), I noticed that its stock decreased over time, before stabilizing at around 520 kg P ha<sup>-1</sup> from 2015 to 2019. The annual input of 50 kg  $P_2O_5$  ha<sup>-1</sup> explained the large increase in labile phosphorus each year. For the

representation of the available water, the differences between the two simulated systems were mainly visible in periods of low extractable soil water in 2013, 2015 and 2017 (Figure 10).

Finally, as far as ecosystem services were concerned, rotation 2 simulation was better than rotation 1 simulation for almost all variables, except for carbon dioxide emissions.



Figure 9: Evolution over time of labile phosphorus in soil for rotation 1 simulation (M, Maize; W, Wheat). Arrows represent the annual  $P_2O_5$  fertilization.



Figure 10: Evolution of extractable soil water for rotation 1 and rotation 2 simulations (M, Maize; W, Wheat; CC, Cover Crop).

#### Definition of the level of information required to describe soil in APSIM

Crop yield, soil organic carbon (SOC) and nitrogen (SON) content are the only variables, that can be compared between the EFELE experiment and the rotation 1 and rotation 2, those for which I tested soil profiles described by (1) four layers, (2) two layers and (3) one single layer. Details of the results are showed in Appendix 3.

There are very few differences between simulations. The differences in RMSE values between simulations did not exceed 0.1 t ha<sup>-1</sup> and for CCC these differences did not exceed 0.03 (Table 8).

For SOC and SON the soil 3 does not describe a layer between 0-25 cm it will therefore not be considered. The simulation results show very few differences between soil 1 and soil 2, the variations between these two soils are of the order of 0.48 t ha<sup>-1</sup> for SOC and non-existent for SON (Table 8). Thus, it would seem that the degree of soil description has little influence on the simulations for yield, soil organic carbon and nitrogen contents.

	Depth (cm)	Organic carbon (t ha <sup>-1</sup> )	Organic nitrogen (t ha <sup>-1</sup> )
EFELE	0-25	37.37	3.97
Soil 1	0-25	39.50	4.00
Soil 2	0-25	39.98	4.00

Table 8: Comparison of soil organic carbon and soil organic nitrogen data in March 16, 2016 between EFELE experiment and rotation 2 with soil 1 and soil 2.

## 6. Discussion

#### a. Interest and limits of the conceptualization method

In this work, the agroecosystem conceptualization approach described by Lamanda et al. (2012) has the main advantage of synthesizing a large amount of knowledge on a specific topic. By conceptualizing a model *de novo* rather than starting directly from an existing numerical model whose underlying conceptualization is not necessarily accessible, we explicitly point out the processes, interactions and elements of a system in relation to the problem posed and which we consider essential to represent in our system. As my work is a step to take into account, in the *de novo* design of systems, the long-term effects of crop diversification on the provisioning of different ecosystem services, conceptual modelling is an interesting upstream of mathematical modelling because it allows:

- identification of indicators that can inform the provision of ecosystem services and elements of the system involved in the processes related to this ecosystem services.
- Simplified representation of a complete causal chain between the elements of the diversification-based agroecosystem and an ecosystem services indicator.
- The assembly of knowledge that allows new hypotheses to be formulated within the system and that evolve over time.

Then by confronting the conceptual model created with the mathematical models, we make sure to choose a mathematical model that meets the objectives of the design.

A questionable point in our conceptual model is the position of pH variable in the active environment. However, it is recognized that this variable are subject to change over time because of climate and crops, for example (Jones et al., 2004; Wang et al., 2015) and APSIM have a module which can provides a representation of the acidification of soil (Keating et al.,

2003). So, it might have been appropriate to place it within the system with BAPs to represent the influence of diversification on the chemical properties of the soil. Furthermore, although an effort has been made to find references with pedoclimatic conditions close to those of the EFELE experiment, many references reported studies located in regions (China, India, Argentina, etc.) with different pedoclimatic conditions from the ones of the Brittany region (while others did not inform the soil type!). Another limit is the lack of references about some aspect; for example, it was not possible to represent the influence of crop diversification on the biological diversity of the soil fauna.

#### b. Advantages and limits of APSIM

#### Practical aspect

From a practical point of view, the APSIM has the advantage of having an internet platform that contains a lot of information about modules and supports (videos, training manuals) allowing a new user to quickly understand the model. Another advantage is that APSIM has a help structure (https://github.com/APSIMInitiative/ApsimX/issues) that can be used in case of questions about APSIM, or if there is a defect with the crop model.

#### The necessary adaptation of APSIM to the context of this study

In order to design systems whose objective is to optimise the provisioning of ecosystem services rendered by crop diversification, it is necessary to use a mathematical model capable of simulating the physical, biological and chemical functioning of a soil-plant-atmosphere system influenced by a technical system (crop management system, crop rotation). Among the crop simulation models, it was found – thanks to the conceptual approach – that APSIM was the one that made it possible to simulate a high number of variables related to ecosystem services.

APSIM is a crop model widely used in the southern hemisphere. Indeed, evaluation of APSIM is well-established and well-documented in Australia and Africa (Gaydon et al., 2017). For simulations in regions with a pedoclimate very different from the ones in the previously mentioned areas, there is a significant effort to adapt the model.

In particular, in our case, cultivars sown on the EFELE experiment were not available in the model. For maize, I created a cultivar based on EFELE's cultivar characteristics and multiple references (Keith & Richard, 2012; Morel et al., 2018; Teixeira et al., 2015)... Hereafter are some examples of parameters used for the phenology recalibration of APSIM forage maize cultivar: thermal time from emergence to end juvenile phase; thermal time from flag leaf appearance to flowering; thermal time from flowering to start grainfill; thermal time between flowering to maturity. For wheat, an APSIM cultivar, available in the EU Plant variety database (EU Plant variety database (v.3.2.1), 2020) has been used. For the cover crop, there is no mustard module yet, so it was chosen to use a crop from the same family available, a winter rapeseed cultivar. This is a big limitation of our work because Rotation 2 is supposed to be the simulation closest to the one of the EFELE experiment.

All these differences between the simulations and the rotation of the EFELE experiment may explain the low accuracy for predicting crop yield compared to other crop modelling studies (Ojeda et al., 2018; Teixeira et al., 2015). In addition, using maize as an example, the yield observed on the EFELE experiment appears to be much less variable than the values predicted by APSIM. This can be explained by a higher sensitivity of the cultivar I created to water deficit. APSIM maize module can reproduce the effect of water deficits on plant processes like photosynthesis, phenology, and leaf-expansion (Crop Module Documentation, 2020).

However, the years 2016 and 2018 are the two years of simulations where the soil water level between flowering and harvest is the lowest (Figure 10) and rainfall is lower compared to the previous two years, 2012 and 2014 (Figure 2). Another explanation for these differences is that APSIM does not make it possible to verify that the forage maize harvest has taken place when the dry matter rate of the whole plant is about 32%. Thus, considering information about phenological parameters, it was estimated that the maturity stage of the cultivar I created corresponded to the 32% dry matter stage.

Concerning the rotation 1 simulation, the insertion of the SoilP module (which represents the availability of phosphorus in soil) penalized the simulated yield compared to observed yield. Indeed this module is well adapted for maize (Soil modules documentation-SoilP, 2020), however there is no validated parameterization for wheat in APSIM yet. Thus, thanks to file sent by a farming system modeller at the University of Queensland containing parameters suitable for others crops that are phosphorus sensitive, phosphorus parameters were implemented in APSIM to simulate phosphorus flows in rotation 1. This phosphorus module could not be introduced in rotation 2 because conversely to wheat module, the canola module is not currently take into account by APSIM phosphorus module.

#### Parameterisation of soil condition and calibration

In order to make the simulations work properly, APSIM offers the possibility to inform and complete a large number of variables related to soils, crops and crop management systems. APSIM requires daily values of precipitation, maximum and minimum temperatures and solar radiation but also measurable soil physical parameters for different soil layers and parameters related to phenology or crop biomass partinionning. However, during the test of the model in our case and contrary to studies carried out in other regions of the world (Chen et al., 2008; Dalgliesh et al., 2016; Yang et al., 2018a), not all of these parameters could be measured or evaluated based on field data. Soil data such as soil water content near saturation, field capacity and permanent wilting point could not be accurately reported for all soil layers (25-60 cm and 60-90 cm). As well as the crop rooting parameters (kl and xf in APSIM), the crop lower limits (crop lower limit in APSIM) and the values of the APSIM parameters Fbiom and Finert (Probert et al., 1998) were estimated according to the literature (Dalgliesh et al., 2016) and do not accurately reflect the actual conditions observed on the EFELE experiment, which may explain the poor fit of the simulation results concerning yields and the difference with EFELE experiment about soil organic carbon and soil nitrogen carbon. Indeed, these parameters influence the way in which the crop interacts with soil resources, especially with water resource. For the parameters Fbiom and Finert they are important because they are used in the calculation of the soil organic matter. Moreover, when comparing the simulations of sole crops with the simulations of crop rotations, it can be seen that the quality of representation is not improved; it remains similar or even decreases for wheat. The same phenomenon is observed for the analysis of the volumetric water content at 15-cm depth. For some years, the model slightly overestimated volumetric water content for Rotation 2 compared to Rotation 1 (Figure 6). These results should be related to the remarks made by Teixeira et al. (2015) who reported the importance to choose representative initialization values for soil water. Moreover Kollas et al. (2015) mentioned that the superiority of the adjustment of rotation simulations compared to single year simulations may be very small due to (i) insufficiently parameterized crops, which affect the performance of the following crop, and (ii) lack of water and/or nitrogen limiting growth in crop rotations. The same authors point out the limited capacity of the models to fully capture the positive effect of the introduction of an intermediate crop on the yield of the following main crops and explain that further research on carry over effects from the previous crop to the next crop is needed to improve the representation of crop rotations.

#### c. A dataset with insufficient observed data

First, the EFELE dataset is very interesting as it provides a lot of information necessary for APSIM to establish the characteristics (i) of each soil layer and (ii) of the climate. But a weakness is that it has not been created to test a model and therefore, the number of observation data is a bit low to be able to calculate relevant statistical parameters. Furthermore, some important variables are missing (e.g. nitrogen stress in plants, water stress, biomass monitoring). So, the small number of data compared for the variables monitored on EFELE makes it difficult to interpret the results and analyse the quality of the crop simulation by APSIM.

A comparison with variables measured several times on the plants themselves such as Leaf Area Index would have been more adequate. However, no such variable was evaluated on the EFELE experiment. This remark can be reiterated regarding the evaluation of the simulation quality of APSIM for soil organic carbon and soil organic nitrogen. Indeed, although the simulated and observed data for the date of March 16, 2016 diverge little, the comparison of these values provides only a first indication and does not allow a precise decision on the performance of APSIM in the representation of the dynamics of soil organic matter. Similarly, for the variables that are not monitored in the "TS/MO" trial of the EFELE experiment, even if the diversification effect thanks to cover crop is visible for some variables such as erosion or leaching, it is difficult to go beyond this simple observation as it is not possible to relate the values obtained to field references. These comparisons could have made it possible to verify whether there is a delayed effect of intermediate cropping on nitrate leaching on the EFELE experiment (Figure 8d), or whether it is rather a difference due to the precision of the model. Similarly for the comparison of different degrees of soil description, more measured data from EFELE for the monitored variables is needed to complete and improve the comparisons and why not extend to other variables that are not currently monitored to confirm whether a less stratified soil description may be sufficient to simulate processes involved in outputs such as phosphorus dynamics or soil emission of carbon dioxide and nitrous oxide.

#### d. Perspectives

First of all, it is necessary to complement the work done here with new simulations based on more and better described observed data, especially to accurately initialize soil conditions. In parallel, work with researchers and modellers would make it possible to optimize the simulation of the growth and development of certain crops already available on APSIM by creating and/or modifying cultivars. This approach would make it possible to determine whether APSIM in its current state is a truly effective tool for simulating the growth of crops in rotation and for representing variables that can be linked to ecosystem services, all in Brittany pedoclimatic context. Then, based on what has already been done, particularly with regard to assessing the impact of a crop management system on a system over long periods of time (Bahri et al., 2019; Kisaka et al., 2016), APSIM could also be used in the long-term representation and analysis of several crop diversification scenarios. However, it can be stated from this first work that APSIM is a tool capable of being taken in hand by a person who does not have a strong knowledge in modelling, with the possibility of appropriating the software fairly quickly and to make several modifications to the model in connection with the study of crop diversification and to observe the consequences. Subsequently, if the model calibration step proves to be conclusive and with the objective of designing a powerful tool within the framework of system design, APSIM could be improved in order to integrate new processes, such as the modelling of processes that condition the carry-over effects involved in the simulation of crop rotations or the modification of the physical properties of the soil by the technical itinerary and biological activities that is represented in a summary manner in crop models including APSIM (Malézieux et al., 2009). In this approach, model coupling could be interesting and more appropriate than *de novo* modelling (Malezieux et al., 2009). Struc-C, a mechanistic model inspired by RothC-26, seeks to describe how the SOC influences the dynamics of soil structure and consequently its physical behaviour (Malamoud et al., 2009). Similarly, the introduction of weed competition and disease incidence into the crop model would make it possible to transcribe disease reduction through crop diversification (Appendix 2). However, thought must also be given to the need to include to many formalisms, at the risk of having to calibrate the model too much or not being able to inform it, or even not being able to explicitly describe the processes and thus reduce the power of the model (Stockmann et al., 2013)

## 7. Conclusion

In this work, I searched a crop model able to simulate a diversified agroecosystem in various pedoclimatic contexts and to represents several variables related to the provision of ecosystem services over time. For this, the conceptualization approach described by Lamanda et al. (2012) help us to identify, thanks to the construction of an "ideal" system, the essential elements that the crop model should have to meet the objective. Among the three crop models evaluated APSIM was the best suited to implement the ideal system. Then the ability of APSIM to simulate outputs related to ecosystem services for some crops in a particular pedoclimate context was evaluated. Even though APSIM showed weaknesses to predict crop yield, principally because of a lack of cultivar crop adapted to Brittany climate, it provide encouraging results for other variables (soil water content, soil organic carbon and soil organic nitrogen) even with low soil description and it showed his potential to study ecosystem services over time. Nevertheless, the lack of observed data and detailed information to complete all the initial soil description parameters prevent us to clearly validated the crop model. So an adaptation work with researchers and modellers combine with an information-gathering campaign about soil could optimize crop model's simulations and determine whether APSIM in its current state is a truly effective tool for simulating a diversification-based agroecosystems and for representing the evolution over time of variables that can be linked to ecosystem services in the Brittany region.

# Bibliography

Agreste. (2020). Agreste-Chiffres & données; données provisoires. 2.

- Aktar, W., Sengupta, D., & Chowdhury, A. (2009). Impact of pesticides use in agriculture : Their benefits and hazards. *Interdisciplinary Toxicology*, 2(1), 1-12. https://doi.org/10.2478/v10102-009-0001-7
- Altieri, M. A. (1999). The ecological role of biodiversity in agroecosystems. Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment, 74(1), 19-31. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0167-8809(99)00028-6
- Bahri, H., Annabi, M., Cheikh M'Hamed, H., & Frija, A. (2019). Assessing the long-term impact of conservation agriculture on wheat-based systems in Tunisia using APSIM simulations under a climate change context. *Science of The Total Environment*, 692, 1223-1233. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2019.07.307
- Bastiaans, L., & Kropff, M. J. (2003). WEEDS | Weed Competition. In B. Thomas (Éd.), *Encyclopedia of Applied Plant Sciences* (p. 1494-1500). Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/B0-12-227050-9/00160-5
- Bedoussac, L. (2016). Performances et fonctionnement des associations céréaleslégumineuses. 11.
- Bennett, A. J., Bending, G. D., Chandler, D., Hilton, S., & Mills, P. (2012). Meeting the demand for crop production : The challenge of yield decline in crops grown in short rotations. *Biological Reviews of the Cambridge Philosophical Society*, 87(1), 52-71. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-185X.2011.00184.x
- Benton, T. G., Vickery, J. A., & Wilson, J. D. (2003). Farmland biodiversity: Is habitat heterogeneity the key? *Trends in Ecology & Evolution*, 18(4), 182-188.

https://doi.org/10.1016/S0169-5347(03)00011-9

- Bergez, J. E., Raynal, H., Launay, M., Beaudoin, N., Casellas, E., Caubel, J., Chabrier, P., Coucheney, E., Dury, J., Garcia de Cortazar-Atauri, I., Justes, E., Mary, B., Ripoche, D., & Ruget, F. (2014). Evolution of the STICS crop model to tackle new environmental issues : New formalisms and integration in the modelling and simulation platform RECORD. *Environmental Modelling & Software*, 62, 370-384. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envsoft.2014.07.010
- Brisson, N. (2008). Conteptual basis, formalisations and parameterization of the STICS crop model. Éditions Quæ.
- Brisson, N., Bussière, F., Ozier-Lafontaine, H., Tournebize, R., & Sinoquet, H. (2004). Adaptation of the crop model STICS to intercropping. Theoretical basis and parameterisation. *Agronomie*, 24(6-7), 409-421. https://doi.org/10.1051/agro:2004031
- Brisson, N., Gary, C., Justes, E., Roche, R., Mary, B., Ripoche, D., Zimmer, D., Sierra, J.,
  Bertuzzi, P., Burger, P., Bussière, F., Cabidoche, Y. M., Cellier, P., Debaeke, P.,
  Gaudillère, J. P., Hénault, C., Maraux, F., Seguin, B., & Sinoquet, H. (2003). An
  overview of the crop model stics. *European Journal of Agronomy*, *18*(3-4), 309-332.
  https://doi.org/10.1016/S1161-0301(02)00110-7
- Brooker, R. W., Bennett, A. E., Cong, W.-F., Daniell, T. J., George, T. S., Hallett, P. D., Hawes, C., Iannetta, P. P. M., Jones, H. G., Karley, A. J., Li, L., McKenzie, B. M., Pakeman, R. J., Paterson, E., Schöb, C., Shen, J., Squire, G., Watson, C. A., Zhang, C., ... White, P. J. (2015). Improving intercropping: A synthesis of research in agronomy, plant physiology and ecology. *New Phytologist*, 206(1), 107-117. https://doi.org/10.1111/nph.13132

Cambridge dictionnary. (2020). CROP ROTATION / signification, définition dans le

dictionnaire	Anglais	de	Cambridge.
https://dictionary.can	nbridge.org/fr/dictionnair	e/anglais/crop-rotati	ion

- Cassman, K. G. (1999). Ecological intensification of cereal production systems: Yield potential, soil quality, and precision agriculture. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *96*(11), 5952-5959. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.96.11.5952
- Chen, W., Shen, Y. Y., Robertson, M. J., Probert, M. E., & Bellotti, W. D. (2008). Simulation analysis of lucerne–wheat crop rotation on the Loess Plateau of Northern China. *Field Crops Research*, 108(2), 179-187. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fcr.2008.04.010
- Chimonyo, V. G. P., Modi, A. T., & Mabhaudhi, T. (2016). Simulating yield and water use of a sorghum–cowpea intercrop using APSIM. Agricultural Water Management, 177, 317-328. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agwat.2016.08.021
- Cong, W.-F., Hoffland, E., Li, L., Janssen, B. H., & van der Werf, W. (2015). Intercropping affects the rate of decomposition of soil organic matter and root litter. *Plant and Soil*, 391(1-2), 399-411. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11104-015-2433-5
- Corvalán, C., Hales, S., McMichael, A. J., Millennium Ecosystem Assessment (Program), & World Health Organization (Éds.). (2005). *Ecosystems and human well-being : Health synthesis*. World Health Organization.
- *Crop module documentation*. (2020). APSIM. https://www.apsim.info/documentation/modeldocumentation/crop-module-documentation/maize/
- Dalgliesh, N., Hochman, Z., Huth, N., & Holzworth, D. (2016). Field Protocol to APSoil characterisations. Version 4.
- David, P. (1985). Clio and the Economics of QWERTY. *American Economic Review*, 75(2), 332-337.

- D'Hose, T., Cougnon, M., De Vliegher, A., Vandecasteele, B., Viaene, N., Cornelis, W., Van Bockstaele, E., & Reheul, D. (2014). The positive relationship between soil quality and crop production : A case study on the effect of farm compost application. *Applied Soil Ecology*, 75, 189-198. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apsoil.2013.11.013
- Dimes, J., Achien, J., Abebe, T., Abeya, T., Makoko, B., Nhantumbo, N., & Rodriguez, D. (2011). Evaluation of APSIM to simulate maize-bean cropping systems in eastern and southern Africa: An alternative approach. 5th World Congress on Conservation Agriculture and Farming Systems Design Australian Centre for International Agricultural Research, 1-4.
- Doran, John W., & Parkin, T. B. (1994). Defining and Assessing Soil Quality. In J.W. Doran,
  D. C. Coleman, D. F. Bezdicek, & B. A. Stewart (Éds.), SSSA Special Publications (p. 1-21). Soil Science Society of America and American Society of Agronomy. https://doi.org/10.2136/sssaspecpub35.c1
- Duru, M., Fares, M., & Therond, O. (2014). A conceptual framework for thinking now (and organising tomorrow) the agroecological transition at the level of the territory. *Cahiers Agricultures*, 23(2), 84-95. https://doi.org/10.1684/agr.2014.0691
- Duru, M., Therond, O., Martin, G., Martin-Clouaire, R., Magne, M.-A., Justes, E., Journet, E.-P., Aubertot, J.-N., Savary, S., Bergez, J.-E., & Sarthou, J. P. (2015). How to implement biodiversity-based agriculture to enhance ecosystem services : A review. *Agronomy for Sustainable Development*, *35*(4), 1259-1281. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13593-015-0306-1
- Ehrmann, J., & Ritz, K. (2014). Plant : Soil interactions in temperate multi-cropping production systems. *Plant and Soil*, *376*(1), 1-29. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11104-013-1921-8

Ertas, A., & Jones, J. C. (1996). The engineering design process (2. ed). Wiley.

- *EU Plant variety database* (*v.3.2.1*). (2020). https://ec.europa.eu/food/plant/plant\_propagation\_material/plant\_variety\_catalogues\_ databases/search/public/index.cfm
- FAO. (2009). L'agriculture mondiale à l'horizon 2050 (Comment nourrir le monde en 2050)[Forum d'experts de haut niveau]. FAO.
- Fuzeau, V., Dubois, G., Thérond, O., & Allaire, G. (2012). Diversification des cultures dans l'agriculture française – état des lieux et dispositifs d'accompagnement. 67. http://temis.documentation.developpement-durable.gouv.fr/docs/Temis/0076/Temis-0076395/20314.pdf
- Gaydon, D. S., Balwinder-Singh, Wang, E., Poulton, P. L., Ahmad, B., Ahmed, F., Akhter, S.,
  Ali, I., Amarasingha, R., Chaki, A. K., Chen, C., Choudhury, B. U., Darai, R., Das, A.,
  Hochman, Z., Horan, H., Hosang, E. Y., Kumar, P. V., Khan, A. S. M. M. R., ... Roth,
  C. H. (2017). Evaluation of the APSIM model in cropping systems of Asia. *Field Crops Research*, 204, 52-75. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fcr.2016.12.015
- Godfray, H. C. J., Beddington, J. R., Crute, I. R., Haddad, L., Lawrence, D., Muir, J. F., Pretty, J., Robinson, S., Thomas, S. M., & Toulmin, C. (2010). Food Security : The Challenge of Feeding 9 Billion People. *Science*, 327(5967), 812-818. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1185383
- Hill, S. B. (1998). Redesigning agroecosystems for environmental sustainability: A deep systems approach. *Systems Research and Behavioral Science*, 15(5), 391-402. https://doi.org/10.1002/(SICI)1099-1743(1998090)15:5<391::AID-SRES266>3.0.CO;2-0
- Horlings, L. G., & Marsden, T. K. (2011). Towards the real green revolution? Exploring the conceptual dimensions of a new ecological modernisation of agriculture that could 'feed

the world'. *Global Environmental Change*, 21(2), 441-452. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gloenvcha.2011.01.004

- Jones, D. L., Hodge, A., & Kuzyakov, Y. (2004). Plant and mycorrhizal regulation of rhizodeposition. New Phytologist, 163(3), 459-480. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-8137.2004.01130.x
- Jones, J. W., Hoogenboom, G., Porter, C. H., Boote, K. J., Batchelor, W. D., Hunt, L. A., Wilkens, P. W., Singh, U., Gijsman, A. J., & Ritchie, J. T. (2003). The DSSAT cropping system model. *European Journal of Agronomy*, 18(3-4), 235-265. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1161-0301(02)00107-7
- Jouan, J. (2020). (Synthèse de doctorat) Valorisation économique et environnementale des complémentarités culture-élevage à travers la production locale de légumineuses : Approche par modélisation de l'Ouest de la France.
- Keating, B. A., Carberry, P. S., Hammer, G. L., Probert, M. E., Robertson, M. J., Holzworth, D., Huth, N. I., Hargreaves, J. N. G., Meinke, H., Hochman, Z., McLean, G., Verburg, K., Snow, V., Dimes, J. P., Silburn, M., Wang, E., Brown, S., Bristow, K. L., Asseng, S., ... Smith, C. J. (2003). An overview of APSIM, a model designed for farming systems simulation. *European Journal of Agronomy*, *18*(3-4), 267-288. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1161-0301(02)00108-9
- Keith, P., & Richard, R. (2012). Frost risk associated with growing maize for silage on Tasmanian dairy farms. 4.
- Kisaka, M. O., Mucheru-Muna, M., Ngetich, F. K., Mugwe, J. N., Mugendi, D. N., Mairura, F.,
  & Muriuki, J. (2016). USING APSIM-MODEL AS A DECISION-SUPPORT-TOOL
  FOR LONG-TERM INTEGRATED-NITROGEN-MANAGEMENT AND MAIZE
  PRODUCTIVITY UNDER SEMI-ARID CONDITIONS IN KENYA. Experimental

Agriculture, 52(2), 279-299. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0014479715000095

- Knoerzer, H., Lawes, R., Robertson, M., Graeff, S., & Claupein, W. (2011). Evaluation and Performance of the APSIM Crop Growth Model for German Winter Wheat, Maize and Fieldpea Varieties in Monocropping and Intercropping Systems. *Journal of Agricultural Science and Technology*, 1, 698-717.
- Lamanda, N., Roux, S., Delmotte, S., Merot, A., Rapidel, B., Adam, M., & Wery, J. (2012). A protocol for the conceptualisation of an agro-ecosystem to guide data acquisition and analysis and expert knowledge integration. *European Journal of Agronomy*, *38*, 104-116. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eja.2011.07.004
- Launay, C. (2017). *Modélisation conceptuelle des interactions sol-plante dans un système avec cultures associées*. (p. 53) [Mémoire de stage]. Agrocampus Ouest.
- Le Gal, P.-Y., Merot, A., Moulin, C.-H., Mireille, N., & Wery, J. (2010). A modelling framework to support farmers in designing agricultural production systems. *Environmental Modelling & Software*, 25, 258-268. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envsoft.2008.12.013
- Lemaire, G., Franzluebbers, A., Carvalho, P. C. de F., & Dedieu, B. (2014). Integrated croplivestock systems : Strategies to achieve synergy between agricultural production and environmental quality. *Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment, 190*, 4-8. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agee.2013.08.009
- Licker, R., Johnston, M., Foley, J. A., Barford, C., Kucharik, C. J., Monfreda, C., & Ramankutty, N. (2010). Mind the gap : How do climate and agricultural management explain the 'yield gap' of croplands around the world?: Investigating drivers of global crop yield patterns. Global Ecology and Biogeography, 19(6), 769-782. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1466-8238.2010.00563.x

- Liebman, M., & Dyck, E. (1993). Crop Rotation and Intercropping Strategies for Weed Management. *Ecological Applications*, *3*(1), 92-122. https://doi.org/10.2307/1941795
- Lin, B. B. (2011). Resilience in Agriculture through Crop Diversification: Adaptive Management for Environmental Change. *BioScience*, 61(3), 183-193. https://doi.org/10.1525/bio.2011.61.3.4
- Loreau, M., Naeem, S., & Inchausti, P. (2002). *Biodiversity and Ecosystem Functioning: Synthesis and Perspectives*. Oxford University Press.
- Maharjan, G. R., Prescher, A.-K., Nendel, C., Ewert, F., Mboh, C. M., Gaiser, T., & Seidel, S.
  J. (2018). Approaches to model the impact of tillage implements on soil physical and nutrient properties in different agro-ecosystem models. *Soil and Tillage Research*, 180, 210-221. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.still.2018.03.009
- Malamoud, K., McBratney, Alex. B., Minasny, B., & Field, D. J. (2009). Modelling how carbon affects soil structure. *Geoderma*, *149*(1), 19-26. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.geoderma.2008.10.018
- Malézieux, E., Crozat, Y., Dupraz, C., Laurans, M., Makowski, D., Ozier-Lafontaine, H., Rapidel, B., de Tourdonnet, S., & Valantin-Morison, M. (2009). Mixing plant species in cropping systems : Concepts, tools and models. A review. *Agronomy for Sustainable Development*, 29(1), 43-62. https://doi.org/10.1051/agro:2007057
- Martin, G., Martin-Clouaire, R., & Duru, M. (2013). Farming system design to feed the changing world. A review. Agronomy for Sustainable Development, 33(1), 131-149. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13593-011-0075-4
- McLaughlin, D., & Kinzelbach, W. (2015). Food security and sustainable resource management. *Water Resources Research*, 51(7), 4966-4985.

https://doi.org/10.1002/2015WR017053

- Meynard, J.-M., Dedieu, B., & Bos, A. P. (2012). Re-design and co-design of farming systems.
  An overview of methods and practices. In I. Darnhofer, D. Gibbon, & B. Dedieu (Éds.),
  Farming Systems Research into the 21st Century: The New Dynamic (p. 405-429).
  Springer Netherlands. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-94-007-4503-2\_18
- Meynard, J.-M., & Messéan, A. (2014). La diversification des cultures : Lever les obstacles agronomiques et économiques. Editions Quae. http://univ.scholarvox.com/catalog/book/docid/88825412?searchterm=La%20diversifi cation%20des%20cultures#
- Mignolet, C., Schott, C., Benoît, M., & Meynard, J.-M. (2012). Transformations des systèmes de production et des systèmes de culture du bassin de la Seine depuis les années 1970 :
  Une spécialisation des territoires aux conséquences environnementales majeures. *Innovations Agronomiques 22*, 1-16.
- Morel, J., Parsons, D., Halling, M., Bergkvist, G., & Hetta, M. (2018). Recalibrating the APSIM Model to Simulate the Growth of Silage Maize at High Latitudes. https://doi.org/10.13140/RG.2.2.35348.55689
- Neumann, K., Verburg, P. H., Stehfest, E., & Müller, C. (2010). The yield gap of global grain production : A spatial analysis. *Agricultural Systems*, 103(5), 316-326. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agsy.2010.02.004
- Ojeda, J. J., Pembleton, K. G., Caviglia, O. P., Islam, M. R., Agnusdei, M. G., & Garcia, S. C. (2018). Modelling forage yield and water productivity of continuous crop sequences in the Argentinian Pampas. *European Journal of Agronomy*, 92, 84-96. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eja.2017.10.004

O'Leary, G. J., Liu, D. L., Ma, Y., Li, F. Y., McCaskill, M., Conyers, M., Dalal, R., Reeves, S.,

Page, K., Dang, Y. P., & Robertson, F. (2016). Modelling soil organic carbon 1.
Performance of APSIM crop and pasture modules against long-term experimental data. *Geoderma*, 264, 227-237. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.geoderma.2015.11.004

- Papademetriou, M. K. (2001). *Crop Diversification in the Asia-Pacific Region*. FAO Regional Office for Asia and the Pacific.
- Pellerin, S., Bamière, L., Angers, D., Béline, F., Benoît, M., Butault, J. P., Chenu, C., Colnenne-David, C., De Cara, S., Delame, N., Doreau, M., Dupraz, P., Faverdin, P., Garcia-Launay, F., Hassouna, M., Hénault, C., Jeuffroy, M. H., Klumpp, K., Metay, A., ...
  Pardon, L. (2013). *Quelle contribution de l'agriculture française à la réduction des émissions de gaz à effet de serre* ? 96.
- Perfcom-ANR. (2012, décembre). *Les Cultures Associées Céréale / Légumineuse*. http://inradam-front-resources-cdn.brainsonic.com/ressources/afile/246508-6e585-resourcearticle-inra-toulouse-cultures-associees.html
- Piñeiro, G., Perelman, S., Guerschman, J. P., & Paruelo, J. M. (2008). How to evaluate models :
  Observed vs. predicted or predicted vs. observed? *Ecological Modelling*, 216(3), 316-322. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolmodel.2008.05.006
- Porter, C. H., Jones, J. W., Adiku, S., Gijsman, A. J., Gargiulo, O., & Naab, J. B. (2010).
   Modeling organic carbon and carbon-mediated soil processes in DSSAT v4.5.
   *Operational Research*, 10(3), 247-278. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12351-009-0059-1
- Power, A. G. (2010). Ecosystem services and agriculture: Tradeoffs and synergies. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 365(1554), 2959-2971. https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2010.0143
- Probert, M. E., Dimes, J. P., Keating, B. A., Dalal, R. C., & Strong, W. M. (1998). APSIM's water and nitrogen modules and simulation of the dynamics of water and nitrogen in

fallow systems. *Agricultural Systems*, 56(1), 1-28. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0308-521X(97)00028-0

- Salo, T. J., Palosuo, T., Kersebaum, K. C., Nendel, C., Angulo, C., Ewert, F., Bindi, M., Calanca, P., Klein, T., Moriondo, M., Ferrise, R., Olesen, J. E., Patil, R. H., Ruget, F., Takac, J., Hlavinka, P., Trnka, M., & Röttter, R. P. (2016). Comparing the performance of 11 crop simulation models in predicting yield response to nitrogen fertilization. *Journal of Agricultural Science*, *154*(7), 1218-1240. https://doi.org/10.1017/s0021859615001124
- Schmidt, A., Guichard, L., & Reau, R. (2010). Le colza est très dépendant des pesticides dans les rotations courtes sans labour (N° 121; Agreste Synthèses, p. 7). http://agreste.agriculture.gouv.fr/IMG/pdf\_synthese1211008.pdf
- Soil modules documentation-SoilP. (2020).
- Stachowicz, J. J. (2001). Mutualism, Facilitation, and the Structure of Ecological CommunitiesPositive interactions play a critical, but underappreciated, role in ecological communities by reducing physical or biotic stresses in existing habitats and by creating new habitats on which many species depend. *BioScience*, 51(3), 235-246. https://doi.org/10.1641/0006-3568(2001)051[0235:MFATSO]2.0.CO;2
- Stockmann, U., Adams, M. A., Crawford, J. W., Field, D. J., Henakaarchchi, N., Jenkins, M., Minasny, B., McBratney, A. B., Courcelles, V. de R. de, Singh, K., Wheeler, I., Abbott, L., Angers, D. A., Baldock, J., Bird, M., Brookes, P. C., Chenu, C., Jastrow, J. D., Lal, R., ... Zimmermann, M. (2013). The knowns, known unknowns and unknowns of sequestration of soil organic carbon. *Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment, 164*, 80-99. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agee.2012.10.001

Swift, M. J., Izac, A.-M. N., & van Noordwijk, M. (2004). Biodiversity and ecosystem services

in agricultural landscapes—Are we asking the right questions? *Agriculture, Ecosystems* & *Environment, 104*(1), 113-134. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agee.2004.01.013

- Tedeschi, L. O. (2006). Assessment of the adequacy of mathematical models. *Agricultural Systems*, 89(2), 225-247. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agsy.2005.11.004
- Teixeira, E. I., Brown, H. E., Sharp, J., Meenken, E. D., & Ewert, F. (2015). Evaluating methods to simulate crop rotations for climate impact assessments – A case study on the Canterbury plains of New Zealand. *Environmental Modelling & Software*, 72, 304-313. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envsoft.2015.05.012
- Therond, O., Duru, M., Roger-Estrade, J., & Richard, G. (2017). A new analytical framework of farming system and agriculture model diversities. A review. *Agronomy for Sustainable Development*, *37*(3), 21. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13593-017-0429-7
- TheRoyal Society (London). (2009). Reaping the benefits science and the sustainable intensification of global agriculture. The Royal Society.
- Tilman, D. (2001). Forecasting Agriculturally Driven Global Environmental Change. Science, 292(5515), 281-284. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1057544
- Tilman, David, Cassman, K. G., Matson, P. A., Naylor, R., & Polasky, S. (2002). Agricultural sustainability and intensive production practices. *Nature*, 418(6898), 671-677. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature01014

Tixier, P., Peyrard, N., Aubertot, J.-N., Gaba, S., Radoszycki, J., Caron-Lormier, G., Vinatier,
F., Mollot, G., & Sabbadin, R. (2013). Chapter Seven—Modelling Interaction Networks
for Enhanced Ecosystem Services in Agroecosystems. In G. Woodward & D. A. Bohan
(Éds.), Advances in Ecological Research (Vol. 49, p. 437-480). Academic Press.
https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-420002-9.00007-X

- United Nations, Department of Economic and Social Affairs, & Population Division. (2019). World population prospects Highlights, 2019 revision Highlights, 2019 revision.
- Voisin, A.-S., Guéguen, J., Huyghe, C., Jeuffroy, M.-H., Magrini, M.-B., Meynard, J.-M., Mougel, C., Pellerin, S., & Pelzer, E. (2014). Legumes for feed, food, biomaterials and bioenergy in Europe: A review. *Agronomy for Sustainable Development*, 34(2), 361-380. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13593-013-0189-y
- Vukicevich, E., Lowery, T., Bowen, P., Úrbez-Torres, J. R., & Hart, M. (2016). Cover crops to increase soil microbial diversity and mitigate decline in perennial agriculture. A review. *Agronomy for Sustainable Development*, *36*(3), 48. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13593-016-0385-7
- Wang, Z., Bao, X., Li, X., Jin, X., Zhao, J., Sun, J., Christie, P., & Li, L. (2015). Intercropping maintains soil fertility in terms of chemical properties and enzyme activities on a timescale of one decade. *Plant and Soil*, 391(1), 265-282. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11104-015-2428-2
- Wikipedia. (2020). Landscape ecology—Wikipedia.
- Yang, X., Zheng, L., Yang, Q., Wang, Z., Cui, S., & Shen, Y. (2018a). Modelling the effects of conservation tillage on crop water productivity, soil water dynamics and evapotranspiration of a maize-winter wheat-soybean rotation system on the Loess Plateau of China using APSIM. *Agricultural Systems*, 166(C), 111-123.
- Yang, X., Zheng, L., Yang, Q., Wang, Z., Cui, S., & Shen, Y. (2018b). Modelling the effects of conservation tillage on crop water productivity, soil water dynamics and evapotranspiration of a maize-winter wheat-soybean rotation system on the Loess Plateau of China using APSIM. *Agricultural Systems*, 166, 111-123.

## https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agsy.2018.08.005

# Appendix 1



Daily maximum and minimum temperatures and solar radiation at EFELE experiment between January 2012 to August 2019

# Appendix 2

Elements necessary to the conceptual modelling of an agro-ecosystem based on diversification, according to the decision tree (Figure 1). The numbers refer to the dynamic analysis scheme of the conceptual system (Appendix 2).

N°.	Ξ	[2]	[3]	[4]	[5]	[9]	Ē		[8]	[6]	[10]	[11]
Reference	Raseduzzaman, Md., et Erik Steen Jensen. 2017	Li, Chengyun et al. 2009	Yadav, M. R. et al. 2017	Nunes MR, et al. 2018	Lehman RM, et al. 2017	Schoeny, Alexandra et al. 2010	Larkin, Robert	P., et al. 2010.	Li, Chengyun et al. 2009	Zhu, Y. et al. 2000	Koocheki Alireza et al. 2009	Verret V, et al. 2017
Figures	Cereal-grain legume intercropping (CV%=22.1) significantly increased yield stability compared with the respective legume sole crops (CV%= 31.7) (n=54). Higher yield stability in cereal-grain legume intercropping (CV%=16%) compared with sole cropping of cereals (CV%=27%) (n=15).	During the first growing year, LER between 1.31 and 1.84 following the intercropping combination and between 1.33 and 1.83 for the second growing year.	Significant interaction effect on stover yield between tillage pratices and crop rotations : PB-MWMb and ZT-MCS plots registered 55.8-59.6% higher stover yield compared to CT-MMS. Maximum N, P and K content (0.563, 0.226 and 1.198%, respectively) in maize stover were recorded with ZT.	Total yield was significantly higher (3.2%) in NT compared to PT on loamy sand. Total yield was significantly higher (9.5%) for NT than PT on silt loam. Com yields under NT-CC was 13.4% higher, than those under PT-NC.	The yield of Soybean yields was 22% higher in in the 4 years rotation than soybean within the 2 years rotation.	Reduction of disease score on pods by 19–50% in the intercrop when ascochyta blight was moderate to severe. Reductions of disease severity by 32% and 49% were observed in the moderate and severe epidemics about stems.	Canola and rapeseed rotations consistently reduced the severity of Rhizoctonia canker, black scurf, and common scab (18 to 38% reduction), and canola rotations resulted in higher tuber yields than continuous potato or barley/clover (6.8 to 8.2% higher).	The combined effect of a canola or rapeseed rotation and winter rye cover crop reduced disease severity by 35 to 41% for black scurf and 20 to 33% for common scab relative to continuous potato with no cover crop.	Northern maize leaf blight in intercropped plots was decreased by 17.0 until 55.9% following the year.	Disease-susceptible rice varieties planted in mixtures with resistant varieties had 89% greater yield and blast was 94% less severe than when they were grown in monoculture.	Weed seed density in continuous winter wheat of approximately 6300 seeds/m2 was higher than other rotations with about 5000 seeds/m2. Weed seed densities in organic and integrated cropping systems, (about 5000–6000 seeds/m2) were higher than conventional and high-input cropping systems (about 2000 seeds/m2).	Lower weed biomass and a higher yield than non-weeded or weeded control treatments, in 52% and 36%, respectively. Greatest benefits for maize, with yields 37% higher than those for non-weeded control treatments.
Soil type			Sandy loam	Clay loam, Loamy sand, Silt loam	Sandy clay loam	ı		Saudy Ioau			Silt loam	ı
Cropping system	Intercropping	Intercropping (tobacco/maize ; potatoe/maize ; sugarcane/maize ; wheat/broad bean)	Rotation (maize-wheat-mungbean ; maize-chickpea- Sesbania ; maize-mustard-mungbean ; maize-maize- Sesbania) and three tillage practices (Zero Tillage, Permanent Bed, Conventional Tillage)	Two tillage treatments (No-Till and Plow-Till) assessed with 24 or 12 years corn monoculture with or without interseeded cover crops	2 years (corn-soybean) and 4 years rotations (corn- field peas-winter wheat-soybean) with no-till	Intercropping (pea/cereal)	Crop rotation	Crop rotation + Cover crop (winter rye)	Intercropping (tobacco/maize; potatoe/maize; sugarcane/maize; wheat/broad bean)	Cultivar mixtures in rice	Continuous winter wheat, maize-winter wheat, sugar beet-winter wheat and different cropping systems (high-input, medium-input, low-input, integrated and organic systems)	Legune companion plant
Time and place of the study	Meta-analysis about 37 articles around the world	2 years China	7 years India	24 years USA	12 years USA	2 years France	10 years	USA	2 years China	2 years China	6 years Iran	Meta-analysis about 34 articles around the world
Subject	Enhancing yield stability with crop diversify	Rising yield thanks to crop diversity		Impact of tillage and diversification on productivity			influences pest control			Effect of crop rotation and	meteropping on weeds	
ES	Production		ı			,				I	1	

[12]	[13]	[14]	[15]	[16]	[17]	[18]	[19]	[20]	[10]	[17]
Huang, Jianxiong, et al. 2019	Zhai, Li-mei et al. 2011	Dyer, Lisa, et al. 2012.	Lehman RM, et al. 2017	Buragienė, Sidona et al. 2019	Laloy, Eric, et C. L. Bielders. 2010	Kong et al. 2005	Wall, G. J., et al. 1991	Kay et VandenBygaart 2002.	0001 la ta dita 1	Laur et al. 1992
The cumulative $N_2O$ emission from the monocultured maize treatment was 16.9 kg ha <sup>-1</sup> over the entire growing season, which was significantly higher of the two intercropped treatments by 36.6% and 32.2%. Short-term $N_2O$ emissions after the two nitrogen applications accounted for 74.4%–83.3% of the total emissions.	With manure more annual N <sub>2</sub> O (3.01±0.11 kg N <sub>2</sub> O-N ha <sup>-1</sup> ) and CO <sub>2</sub> (28 663±1147 kg C ha <sup>-1</sup> ) emissions in comparison with inorganic fertilizer (NPK : 1,29±0.061 kg N <sub>2</sub> O-N ha <sup>-1</sup> and 16125±209 kg C ha-1) and wiht no fertilizer treatment (0.58±0.029 kg N2O-N ha-1 and 10 565±288 kg C ha-1).	Lower emission with intercrop systems : CO <sub>2</sub> emission rates were (354±14) and (357±13) µg C m <sup>-2</sup> h <sup>-1</sup> in the soybean and maize sole crops respectively, whereas that in the 2 intercrop systems was (284±10) and (290±17) µg C m <sup>-2</sup> h <sup>-1</sup> . N <sub>2</sub> O emission rates were (13.5±0.8) and (14.0±0.7) µg N m <sup>-2</sup> h <sup>-1</sup> in the soybean and maize sole crops, respectively, whereas that in the intercrops was (11.5±0.8) µg N m <sup>-2</sup> h <sup>-1</sup> .	Average daily N <sub>2</sub> O fluxes were 24% lower for the 4 years rotation (2.34 $\pm$ 0.56 g N <sub>2</sub> O-N ha <sup>-1</sup> d <sup>-1</sup> ) compared with the 2 years rotation (3.06 $\pm$ 0.59 g N <sub>2</sub> O-N ha <sup>-1</sup> d <sup>-1</sup> )	Total CO <sub>2</sub> emissions from soil in DP, SP, DC, SC and NT technologies were respectively 6.05, 4.25, 4.97, 4.42, 3.94 $\mu$ mol m <sup>-2</sup> s <sup>-1</sup> before autumn soil tillage and 29.88, 22.50, 16.73, 13.72, 10.00 $\mu$ mol m <sup>-2</sup> s <sup>-1</sup> after autumn tillage.	Reduction of runoff and erosion by more than 94% thanks to cover crops compared with untilled post-maize harvest plots. During two seasons, plots that had been covered during the previous intercropping period lost 40 to 90% less soil compared with maize plots that had been left bare between October to April.	MWD = $0.35 - 0.03x$ (sequestered SOC)- $0.009x$ (C input). $R^{2}=0.77$	Runoff reduction with the maize-clover system ranged from 45 to 87%. Reduction of soil loss from the maize-clover system as compared to the corn system ranged from 46 to 78%.	p = 1.573 - 0.0640T - 0.367P - 0.0686TxP - 0.0725SOM - 0.0311Cl - 0.0012SOMxCl T: tillage or not; P: rank or inter-rank; SOM: soil organic matter (%) ; Cl: clay (%).	Reduced bulk density compared to maize monoculture. Da of 1.28 for monoculture maize versus 1.20 for association monoculture.	Reduced bulk density compared to maize monoculture. Da of 1.36 for maize monoculture versus 1.28 for association monoculture.
Silt loam	Ferralic Cambisol	Medium loam	Sandy clay Ioam	Silt loam	Sandy loam & Silt loam	Silt loam Silty clay loam	Orthic Grey Brown Luvisol	Aquic Haplu- dalfs, Psam- mentic Haplu- dalfs, Typic Hapludalfs	clay	Silty clay
Intercropping (maize/soybean)	Rotation (maize-wheat) and different fertilization treatments with fertilizer and manure	Intercropping (maize-soybean)	2 years (com-soybean) and 4 years rotations (com- field peas-winter wheat-soybean) with no-till	Maize	Winter cover crop of rye and Italian ryegrass	Maize, wheat, tomatoe, legumes	Intercropping (silage maize/red clover)	Zero or conventional tillage	Intercropping (maize/legumes)	
1 year China	17 years China	2 years Argentina	12 years USA	4 years Lithuania	3 years Belgium	10 years France	6 years Canada	11 years Canada	3 years	Canada
Effect of intercropping and fertilization on N <sub>2</sub> O emissions	Impact of long- term application of organic manure and mineral fertilizer	Reduction of GHG emissions with intercropping		Tillage impacts the CO <sub>2</sub> emissions from soil	Effect of cover crop on runoff and erosion in a maize cropping system	Stabilization of aggregates by MO	Intercropping red clover with silage corn provide soil erosion control	Impact of tillage on the bulk density of the horizon 5-10 cm	Impact of the	association on ours density
Greenhouse gases regulation					Erosion control					

		Bogunovic et al. [23] 2018	Bogunovic et al. [23] 2018 Constantin, J. et [24] al. 2010.	Bogunovic et al. [23] 2018 Constantin, J. et [24] al. 2010. Manevski, Kiril, [25] et al. 2015	Bogunovic et al. [23] 2018 [23] Constantin, J. et [24] al. 2010. [24] al. 2010. [25] et al. 2015 [26] vie, Sheng-wei [26]	Bogunovic et al. [23] 2018 [24] al. 2010. [24] al. 2010. [24] Manevski, Kiril, [24] et al. 2015 [26] et al. 2012 [26] et al. 2013. [27] al. 2013. [27]	Bogunovic et al. [23] 2018 (23] Constantin, J. et [24] al. 2010. [24] Manevski, Kiril, [25] et al. 2015 (26] vie, Sheng-wei [26] et al. 2012 (27] al. 2013. [27] al. 2013. [28]	Bogunovic et al.[23]201820182018[24]al. 2010.[24]al. 2010.[24]where stal. 2015[25]et al. 2015[26]et al. 2013.[27]al. 2013.[28]et al. 2018.[28]et al. 2018.[28]al. 1998[29]	Bogunovic et al.[23]201820182018[24]al. 2010.[24]al. 2010.[25]et al. 2015[26]et al. 2013[26]othern, Guodong[26]al. 2013.[27]al. 2013.[28]Buschiazzo et[29]al. 1998[30]Bordovsky et al.[30]1994[30]	Bogunovic et al.[23]201820182018[24]Manevski, Kiril,[24]al. 2010.[24]mai. 2013.[26]et al. 2015[26]et al. 2013.[26]al. 2013.[27]al. 2013.[28]Buschiazzo et[28]al. 1998[28]al. 1998[29]al. 1994[30]1994[31]	Bogunovic et al. [23] 2018 [23] 2018 [23] Constantin, J. et [24] al. 2010. [24] Manevski, Kiril, [25] et al. 2015 [26] et al. 2013 [26] wite, Sheng-wei [26] et al. 2013 [27] al. 2013. [27] al. 2013. [29] Buschiazzo et [29] al. 1998 [29] al. 1998 [29] al. 1998 [29] Buschiazzo et [29] al. 1998 [23] al. 1998 [23] al. 1998 [23] al. 1998 [23] al. 1998 [23] al. 1998 [23] al. 1994 [31] Cong. Wen- Feng et al. [32]
		$ar^{-1}$ ) and DT (3.11 t ha-1 year <sup>-1</sup> ) were $B^{-1}$ year <sup>-1</sup> ).	ear <sup>-1</sup> ) and DT (3.11 t ha-1 year <sup>-1</sup> ) were B 1 <sup>-1</sup> year <sup>-1</sup> ). 6 following the condition and remained C	ar <sup>-1</sup> ) and DT (3.11 t ha-1 year <sup>-1</sup> ) were Ba <sup>-1</sup> year <sup>-1</sup> ). 6 following the condition and remained Cabi following	ar <sup>-1</sup> ) and DT (3.11 t ha-1 year <sup>-1</sup> ) were B 1 <sup>-1</sup> year <sup>-1</sup> ). 6 following the condition and remained C g than monocrop maize. N ig than monocrop maize. N (ching losses during the maize growing N (dmize-soybean) following the year.	ar <sup>-1</sup> ) and DT (3.11 t ha–1 year <sup>-1</sup> ) were B 1 <sup>-1</sup> year <sup>-1</sup> ). (3.11 t ha–1 year <sup>-1</sup> ) were B 6 following the condition and remained C 6 following the condition and remained C 6 following the condition and remained C 1 (maize-solve and following the year.) 1 (maize-solve and following the year.) 2 d nitrate leaching by 80%. Improved C 2 d nitrate leaching by 80%. Improved C 2 d nitrate leaching by 80%. Improved C	ar <sup>-1</sup> ) and DT (3.11 t ha-1 year <sup>-1</sup> ) were B a <sup>-1</sup> year <sup>-1</sup> ). (3.11 t ha-1 year <sup>-1</sup> ) were B 6 following the condition and remained C 6 following the condition and remained C (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1)	ar <sup>-1</sup> ) and DT (3.11 t ha-1 year <sup>-1</sup> ) were B a <sup>1-1</sup> year <sup>-1</sup> ). (3.11 t ha-1 year <sup>-1</sup> ) were B 6 following the condition and remained C after the condition and the condition at the condition and the condition at the conditio	ar <sup>-1</sup> ) and DT (3.11 t ha <sup>-1</sup> year <sup>-1</sup> ) were B r <sup>11</sup> year <sup>-1</sup> ). (3.11 t ha <sup>-1</sup> t year <sup>-1</sup> ) were B 6 following the condition and remained C 6 following the condition and remained C (maize-soybean) following the year. Ching losses during the maize growing undnut), 35.2-130.8 (maize-ryegrass), (maize-soybean) following the year. Ching losses during the maize following and the maize growing r ching losses during the maize following the year. Ching losses during the maize growing r ange of 40%. Replacing a fallow ching by 50%. The phylo system was S value of 5.6 mm in the PM/P system was S value of 5.6 mm in the PM/P system. ange of ΔSWS value, whereas the SWS value averaging -33.1 mm. ange of ΔSWS value averaging -33.1 mm. ange of ΔSWS value averaging -33.1 mm. arent crops were 11 to 15% greater tillage. Same n with conventional tillage. Same	ar <sup>-1</sup> ) and DT (3.11 t ha <sup>-1</sup> year <sup>-1</sup> ) were B a <sup>-1</sup> year <sup>-1</sup> ). Were B 6 following the condition and remained C 6 following the condition and remained C 6 following the condition and remained C 6 following the maize growing the veat. (indianely 35.2-130.8 (maize-ryegrass), (indianely 35.2-130.8 (maize-ryegrass), (indianely 35.2-130.8 (maize-ryegrass), (indianely 35.2-130.8 (maize-ryegrass), (indianely 35.2-130.8 (maize-ryegrass), if a mainely 50%. Improved C in a maine of 40%. Replacing a fallow ching by 50%. SWS value in the M/P system was S value of 5.6 mm in the PM/P system. SWS value in the M/P system was S value of 5.6 mm in the PM/P system. SWS value averaging -33.1 mm. ange of ΔSWS value, whereas the indiage. SWS value averaging -33.1 mm. arent crops were 11 to 15% greater fillage. arent crops were 11 to 15% greater indiage. arent conventional tillage. Same n with conventional tillage. Same n with conventional tillage. Same n with conventional tillage. Same	<ul> <li>ar<sup>-1</sup>) and DT (3.11 t ha<sup>-1</sup> year<sup>-1</sup>) were Ba<sup>-1</sup> year<sup>-1</sup>).</li> <li>6 following the condition and remained Condition by 80%. Improved Condition 1, 35.2-130.8 (maize-ryegrass), "(maize-soybean) following the year.</li> <li>A nitrate leaching by 80%. Improved Condition by 80%. Improved Condition by 50%.</li> <li>Svalue of 5.6 mm in the PM/P system was so value averaging -33.1 mm.</li> <li>Svalue of 5.6 mm in the PM/P system.</li> <li>So value averaging -33.1 mm.</li> <li>Sevalue averaging -33.1 mm.</li> <li>So value averaging -33.1 mm.</li> <li>So value averaging -33.1 mm.</li> <li>Substanting second water content the rotation by 6%.</li> <li>So value averaging -33.1 mm.</li> <li>Substanting second water content the rotation biologic after 112 days of incubation.</li> <li>So sole crops and bulk soil.</li> <li>In soil samples from maize/wheat and plots after 112 days of incubation.</li> </ul>
		Average annual soil loss under NT (0.53 t ha <sup>-1</sup> year significantly lower than that under CT (13.11 t ha <sup>-</sup>	Average annual soil loss under NT (0.53 t ha <sup>-1</sup> year significantly lower than that under CT (13.11 t ha <sup>-1</sup> catch crops decrease N leaching from 36 to 62% i efficient on the long term.	Average annual soil loss under NT (0.53 t ha <sup>-1</sup> yea significantly lower than that under CT (13.11 t ha <sup>-</sup> Catch crops decrease N leaching from 36 to 62% i efficient on the long term. Intercropped maize had 15–37 % lower N leaching	Average annual soil loss under NT (0.53 t ha <sup>-1</sup> yea significantly lower than that under CT (13.11 t ha <sup>-</sup> Catch crops decrease N leaching from 36 to 62% i efficient on the long term. Intercropped maize had 15–37 % lower N leaching Compared to the sole maize treatment, nitrate leac period were reduced by 20.9-174.8 (maize-grou 60.4-122.0 (maize- alfalfa), and 30.6-82.4 kg ha <sup>-1</sup>	Average annual soil loss under NT (0.53 t ha <sup>-1</sup> yean significantly lower than that under CT (13.11 t ha <sup>-1</sup> Catch crops decrease N leaching from 36 to 62% i efficient on the long term. Intercropped maize had 15–37 % lower N leaching for the sole maize treatment, nitrate leach period were reduced by 20.9-174.8 (maize-grou 60.4-122.0 (maize- alfalfa), and 30.6-82.4 kg ha <sup>-1</sup> ( Adjusting water application to crop needs reduced fertilizer management reduced nitrate leaching by with a non-legume cover crop reduced nitrate leaching by	Average annual soil loss under NT (0.53 t ha <sup>-1</sup> yean significantly lower than that under CT (13.11 t ha <sup>-1</sup> Catch crops decrease N leaching from 36 to 62% i efficient on the long term. Intercropped maize had 15–37 % lower N leaching compared to the sole maize treatment, nitrate leach 0.4-122.0 (maize- alfalfa), and 30.6-82.4 kg ha <sup>-1</sup> 6.4-122.0 (maize- alfalfa), and 30.6-82.4 kg ha <sup>-1</sup> divising water application to crop needs reduced fertilizer management reduced nitrate leach with a non-legume cover crop reduced nitrate leach owith a non-legume cover crop reduced nitrate leach of the accumulated $\Delta SV$ averaged 28 mm, significantly greater than $\Delta SWS$ After pea harvest, the <i>M/P</i> system had a narrow rau <i>PM/P</i> system had significantly greater negative $\Delta S$	Average annual soil loss under NT (0.53 t ha <sup>-1</sup> yean significantly lower than that under CT (13.11 t ha <sup>-1</sup> Catch crops decrease N leaching from 36 to 62% i efficient on the long term. Intercropped maize had 15–37 % lower N leaching for the sole maize treatment, nitrate leaching of 0.4-122.0 (maize- alfalfa), and 30.6-82.4 kg ha <sup>-1</sup> divide a margement reduced by 20.9-174.8 (maize-groud be).4-122.0 (maize- alfalfa), and 30.6-82.4 kg ha <sup>-1</sup> divide a non-legume cover crop needs reduced fertilizer management reduced nitrate leaching by with a non-legume cover crop reduced nitrate leaching the co-growth period, the accumulated $\Delta$ SW After peat harvest, the MP system had a narrow var averaged 28 mm, significantly greater negative $\Delta$ SS averaged 28 mm, significantly greater negative $\Delta$ SS averaged 28 mm, significantly greater negative $\Delta$ SS averaged 28 mm significantly greater negative $\Delta$ SS	Average annual soil loss under NT (0.53 t ha <sup>-1</sup> yean significantly lower than that under CT (13.11 t ha <sup>-</sup> Catch crops decrease N leaching from 36 to 62% i efficient on the long term. Catch crops decrease N leaching from 36 to 62% i efficient on the long term. Intercropped maize had 15–37 % lower N leaching of 0.4-122.0 (maize- alfalfa), and 30.6-82.4 kg ha <sup>-1</sup> (of 0.4-122.0 (maize- alfalfa), and 30.6-82.4 kg ha <sup>-1</sup> (of 0.4-122.0 (maize- alfalfa), and 30.6-82.4 kg ha <sup>-1</sup> (of 0.4-122.0 (maize- alfalfa), and 30.6-82.4 kg ha <sup>-1</sup> (fitting water application to crop needs reduced fettilizer management reduced intrate leach of the annon-legume cover crop reduced intrate leach with a non-legume cover crop reduced intrate leach of the annon-legume transformet of the accumulated $\Delta SN$ we have a harvest, the <i>MP</i> P system had a narrow rate <i>PMP</i> system had significantly greater than $\Delta SWS$ averaged 28 mm, significantly greater than $\Delta SWS$ are transformed to react the ord fallow after differ with conservation tillage than with conventional til Under irrigated condition, regarding average s treatment shows an increasing of 13% and 7.7% respectively, compared to continuous coton observations for dryland condition.	Average annual soil loss under NT (0.53 t ha <sup>-1</sup> yean significantly lower than that under CT (13.11 t ha <sup>-</sup> Catch crops decrease N leaching from 36 to 62% i efficient on the long term. Catch crops decrease N leaching from 36 to 62% i efficient on the long term. Catch crops decrease N leaching from 36 to 62% i efficient on the long term. Catch crops decrease N leaching from 36 to 62% i and 0.4-122.0 (maize-group 0.4-122.0 (maize-affalta), and 30.6-82.4 kg ha <sup>-1</sup> (Adjusting water application to crop needs reduced fertilizer management reduced nitrate leach of the accumulated $\Delta SV$ with a non-legume core crop reduced nitrate leach with a non-legume to the accumulated $\Delta SV$ are particle and the accumulated $\Delta SV$ are preaded to the accumulated $\Delta SV$ are preaded to the accumulated $\Delta SV$ and a non-legume to the accumulated $\Delta SV$ with conservation tillage than with conventional til Under irrigated condition, regarding average s the attenent shows an increasing of 13% and 7.7% respectively, compared to continuous cotton observations for dryland condition.	Average annual soil loss under NT (0.53 t ha <sup>-1</sup> yean significantly lower than that under CT (13.11 t ha <sup>-1</sup> Catch crops decrease N leaching from 36 to 62% i efficient on the long term. Catch crops decrease N leaching from 36 to 62% i efficient on the long term. Intercropped maize had 15–37 % lower N leaching of 0.4-122.0 (maize- alfalfa), and 30.6-82.4 kg ha <sup>-1</sup> (0.4-122.0 (maize- alfalfa), and 30.6-82.4 kg ha <sup>-1</sup> distributing water application to crop needs reduced fertilizer management reduced nitrate leach of 0.4-122.0 (maize- alfalfa), and 30.6-82.4 kg ha <sup>-1</sup> distributing water application to crop needs reduced fertilizer management reduced nitrate leaching by with a non-legume cover crop reduced nitrate leaching the co-growth period, the accumulated ASV with a non-legume cover crop reduced nitrate leaching fertilizer management reduced nitrate leaching
		clay loam Av Stagnosols sig	clay loam Av Stagnosols sig Haplic luvisol, Cé Dystric cambi- efi sol, Rendzina efi	clay loam Av Stagnosols sig Haplic luvisol, Ca Dystric cambi- eff sol, Rendzina Sandy loam Int Coarse loam Int	clay loam Av Stagnosols sig Haplic luvisol, Ca Dystric cambi- eff sol, Rendzina Sandy loam Int Coarse loam Int Coarse loam Int Calcareous co alluvial soil 60	clay loam Av Stagnosols sig Haplic luvisol, Ca bystric cambi- eff sol, Rendzina eff sol, Rendzina eff sol, Rendzina eff adhuvial soin Int Coarse loam Int Coarse loam Int - Ac	clay loam Av Stagnosols sig Haplic luvisol, Ca bystric cambi- sol, Rendzina Sandy loam Int Coarse loam Int Coarse loam Int alluvial soil 60 Af Aridisol Af PD	clay loam Av Stagnosols sig Bystric cambi- eff sol, Rendzina eff alluvial soil eff efe alluvial soil eff by Av Aridisol Aff Aridisol Aff Silty loam sc Sandy loam sc	clay loam Av Stagnosols sig Haplic luvisol, Ca sol, Rendzina eff sol, Rendzina eff sol, Rendzina eff sol, Rendzina eff asluvial soil eff o eff ealtuvial soil eff Ad Aridisol Aff Ph Sandy loam vi vi vi vi vi vi vi vi vi vi vi vi vi v	clay loam Av Stagnosols sig Stagnosols sig bystric cambi- eff sol, Rendzina Sandy loam Int Coarse loam Int Coarse loam Int Coarse loam Int Coarse loam Ad alluvial soil 60 60 Ad Ad Ad Ad Ad Ad Ad Ad Ad Ad Ad Ad Ad	clay loam Av Stagnosols sig sol, Rendzina Av sol, Rendzina eff sol, Rendzina by Sandy loam Int Coarse loam Int Coarse loam Int Coarse loam Int Coarse loam Vi alluvial soil 60 60 60 60 60 60 60 60 60 60 60 60 60 6
		Conventional tillage, no-tillage and deep tillage treatments	Conventional tillage, no-tillage and deep tillage treatments Catch crops (white mustard ; italian ryegrass radish or winter cereal) s	Conventional tillage, no-tillage and deep tillage treatments Catch crops (white mustard : italian ryegrass radish D or winter cereal) s Intercropping (maize/red fescue)	Conventional tillage, no-tillage and deep tillage treatments Catch crops (white mustard ; italian ryegrass radish D or winter cereal) s s Intercropping (maize/red fescue) Intercropping (maize/rod fescue) Intercropping (maize/soybean ; maize/groundnut ; maize/ryegrass ; maize/alfalfa) and total amounts of N fertilization of 375 kg pure N ha <sup>-1</sup>	Conventional tillage, no-tillage and deep tillage treatments Catch crops (white mustard ; italian ryegrass radish $\overrightarrow{\text{D}}$ or winter cereal) seconds and the second $\overrightarrow{\text{D}}$ or winter cereal) intercropping (maize/red fescue) functional (and the second fescue) intercropping (maize/soybean ; maize/groundmut ; maize/ryegrass ; maize/soybean ; maize/soybean ; maize/groundmut ; maize/ryegrass ; maize/soybean ; maize/soybean ; maize/groundmut ; maize/ryegrass ; maize/soybean ; maize/soybean ; maize/ryegrass ; maize/soybean ; maize/ryegrass ; maize/soybean ;	Conventional tillage, no-tillage and deep tillage treatments Catch crops (white mustard : italian ryegrass radish $\overrightarrow{\text{D}}$ or winter cereal) statish $\overrightarrow{\text{D}}$ or winter cereal) Intercropping (maize/red fescue) Intercropping (maize/red fescue) Intercropping (maize/soybean : maize/groundnut : maize/ryegrass : maize/affalfa) and total amounts of N fertilizer management and use of cover water and fertilizer management and use of cover crops Strip intercropping (maize/pea)	Conventional tillage, no-tillage and deep tillage treatments Catch crops (white mustard ; italian ryegrass radish D or winter cereal) s s Intercropping (maize/red fescue) Intercropping (maize/soybean ; maize/groundnut ; maize/ryegrass ; maize/affalfa) and total amounts of N fertilization of 375 kg pure N ha <sup>-1</sup> Nater and fertilizer management and use of cover crops Strip intercropping (maize/pea) Strip intercropping (maize/pea)	Conventional tillage, no-tillage and deep tillage treatments       F         Catch crops (white mustard : italian ryegrass radish p or winter cereal)       E         Intercropping (maize/red fescue)       n         Intercropping (maize/soybean : maize/groundnut : maize/ryegrass : maize/shfalfa) and total amounts of N fertilization of 375 kg pure N ha <sup>-1</sup> N         Water and fertilizer management and use of cover crops       Strip intercropping (maize/pea)       Strip intercropping (maize/pea)         Conventional tillage and conservation tillage       Conventional tillage and conservation tillage       Conventional tillage treatments (conventional : no-till)	Conventional tillage, no-tillage and deep tillage treatments       Fi         Catch crops (white mustard ; italian ryegrass radish D or winter cereal)       Fi         Intercropping (maize/red fescue)       S         Intercropping (maize/rod fescue)       Naize/groundnut ;         Intercropping (maize/soybean ; maize/groundnut ;       Maize/soybean ; maize/groundnut ;         Mater and fertilizer management and use of cover crops       Strip intercropping (maize/pea)         Strip intercropping (maize/soybean ; maize/groundnut ;       Strip intercropping (maize/soybean ; maize/groundnut ;         Intercropping (maize/soybean ; maize/groundnut ;       Maize/soybean ; maize/groundnut ;         Intercropping (maize/soybean ; maize/groundnut ;       Maize/soybean ;         Intercropping (maize/soybean ; maize/groundnut ;       Maize/soybean ;         Intercropping (maize/soybean ; maize/groundnut ;       Maize/soybean ;         Mater and fertilizer management and use of cover crops       Strip intercropping (maize/soybean ;         Strip intercropping (maize/soil)       Crops of cover crops         Conventional tillage and conservation tillage       Crop rotation, two tillage treatments (conventional ; no-till)         intercropping (chickepea/durum wheat ; durum wheat ; durum wheat ; durum wheat ; durum       Marcup work	Conventional tillage, no-tillage and deep tillage treatments       E         Catch crops (white mustard : italian ryegrass radish or winter cereal)       E         Catch crops (white mustard : italian ryegrass radish or winter cereal)       E         Intercropping (maize/soybean : maize/groundnut : maize/ryegrass : maize/affalfa) and total amounts of N fertilization of 375 kg pure N ha <sup>-1</sup> E         Nater and fertilizer management and use of cover crops       Strip intercropping (maize/pea)       E         Strip intercropping (maize/pea)       Strip intercropping (maize/pea)       E         Intercropping (maize/soybean : maize/ryegrass : maize/manounts of N fertilization of 375 kg pure N ha <sup>-1</sup> E         Nater and fertilizer management and use of cover crops       Strip intercropping (maize/pea)       E         Strip intercropping (maize/pea)       Strip intercropping (maize/pea)       E       E         Intercropping (chickepea/durum wheat : durum wheat i durum       E
t	t	/ years Croatia	/ years Croatia 13-17 years France	/ years Croatia 13-17 years France 3 years Denmark	/ years Croatia France 3 years Denmark 2 years China	/ years Croatia France 3 years Denmark Denmark 2 years China 2 years China about 44 articles	/ years Croatia France 3 years Denmark Denmark 2 years China 3 years China 3 years China	/ years Croatia France 3 years Denmark Denmark Denmark China 2 years China 3 years about 44 articles 3 years China 5-11 years 3 years China	<ul> <li>/ years</li> <li>/ years</li> <li>(roatia</li> <li>13-17 years</li> <li>13-17 years</li> <li>3 years</li> <li>2 years</li> <li>2 years</li> <li>2 years</li> <li>2 years</li> <li>3 years</li> <li>3 years</li> <li>5-11 years</li> <li>6 years</li> <li>6 years</li> <li>1</li> </ul>	<ul> <li><sup>v</sup> years</li> <li><sup>v</sup> years</li> <li><sup>r</sup> France</li> <li><sup>3</sup> years</li> <li><sup>3</sup> years</li> <li><sup>3</sup> years</li> <li><sup>2</sup> years</li> <li><sup>2</sup> years</li> <li><sup>4</sup> articles</li> <li><sup>3</sup> years</li> <li><sup>3</sup> years</li> <li><sup>3</sup> years</li> <li><sup>6</sup> years</li> <li><sup>6</sup> years</li> <li><sup>1</sup> years</li> <li><sup>1</sup> years</li> <li><sup>1</sup> years</li> <li><sup>1</sup> years</li> <li><sup>1</sup> years</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>/ years</li> <li>/ years</li> <li>France</li> <li>13-17 years</li> <li>13-17 years</li> <li>3 years</li> <li>China</li> <li>2 years</li> <li>China</li> <li>2 years</li> <li>China</li> <li>3 years</li> <li>China</li> <li>5 years</li> <li>5 years</li> <li>1 years</li> <li>5 years</li> <li>5 years</li> <li>7 years</li> <li>China</li> <li>7 years</li> <li>China</li> </ul>
Tillace	Tillage	management impacts the soil loss	management impacts the soil loss Simulation impacts of catch crops on N leaching	management impacts the soil loss Simulation impacts of catch crops on N leaching Intercropping maize-red fescue to reduce nitrogen leaching	management impacts the soil loss Simulation impacts of catch crops on N leaching Intercropping maize-red fescue to reduce nitrogen leaching Intercropping to reduce N leaching in fields with N fertlizer over-dose	Intercropping nation impacts the soil loss Simulation impacts of catch crops on N leaching Intercropping maize-red fescue to reduce nitrogen leaching Intercropping to reduce N leaching in fields with N fertilizer over-dose Influence of cropping system about N leaching	nanagement impacts the soil loss Simulation impacts of catch crops on N leaching Intercropping maize-red fescue to reduce nitrogen leaching Intercropping to reduce N leaching in fields with N fertilizer over-dose Influence of cropping system about N leaching Strip-intercropping enhanced temporal soil water distribution	Imanagement         impacts the soil loss         Simulation impacts         of catch crops on N         leaching         Intercropping         maize-red fescue to         reduce nitrogen         leaching         Intercropping to         reduce N leaching         in fields with N         fertilizer over-dose         Influence of         cropping system         about N leaching         soil water         distribution         Tillage influences         soil water         distribution	nanagement impacts the soil loss Simulation impacts of catch crops on N leaching Intercropping maize-red fescue to reduce nitrogen leaching Intercropping to reduce N leaching in fields with N fertilizer over-dose Influence of cropping system about N leaching Strip-intercropping enhanced temporal soil water distribution Tillage influences soil water crop rotation and tillage effects on soil water crop rotation and tillage effects on soil water	nanagement impacts the soil loss Simulation impacts of catch crops on N leaching Intercropping maize-red fescue to reduce nitrogen leaching in fields with N fertilizer over-dose Influence of cropping system about N leaching Strip-intercropping enhanced temporal soil water distribution Tillage influences soil water content Crop rotation and tillage effects on soil water crimobilisation C immobilisation	management impacts the soil loss Simulation impacts of catch crops on N leaching Intercropping maize-red fescue to reduce nitrogen leaching in fields with N fertilizer over-dose Influence of cropping system about N leaching Strip-intercropping enhanced temporal soil water distribution Tillage influences soil water content Crop rotation and tillage effects on soil water content Crimnobilisation Rising SOM mineralisation
			ri Water quality	Water Quality	Water Quality	Water Water	Water Water A unitity Water Water Supply	Water Water A guality Water Supply	Water Water a guality water supply	Water Water quality Carbon Carbon storage	Water quality Water storage

[34]	[35]	5	50]	5	[37]	[00]	[oc]	[39]	[40]	[41]	[42]	[43]	[44]
Parihar et al. 2016	Sylvain Pellerin et al. 2019		Wichem 2007		Wichem 2007	Wichern 2007	Wichern 2007	Cong, Wen- Feng et al. 2015	Xia H-Y, et al (2013)	Z. Wang et al. 2015	Li, Chun-Jie et al. 2011	Latati, M. et al. 2014	Betencourt, Elodie et al. 2012
SOC content in PB and ZT plots were higher (23.6 to 35.3%) than the CT. Maximum SOC contents was recorded in maize-chickpea-sesbania sequence, which were 18.9 and 20.4% higher compared to maize-mustard-mungbean and maize-maize-sesbaina crop rotations, respectively. The highest SOC content was found in ZT/PB-maize-wheat-mungbean treatment (6.88/7.19 g.kg <sup>-1</sup> of soil) and ZT/PB-maize-chickpea-sesbania treatment (7.15/7.15 g.kg <sup>-1</sup> of soil).	Extension of cover crop : + 2.019 MtC/year ; Agroforestry : + 1.102 MtC/year ; No till : + 0,677 MtC/year ; insertion and elogation of grassland : + 0,756 MtC/year. Storage potential mainly in arable farms with 86% of total potential.	4.1% of total C	7.9% of total C	40% of total C	35.3% of total C	29.6% of total C	30.8% of total C	Soil organic N content in the top 20 cm was 11% greater in intercrops than in sole crops. Difference of about 45 kgN/ha/year.	Average shoot P contents of maize/turnip, maize/faba bean, maize/chickpea and maize/soybean intercropping increased by $44.6\%$ , $30.7\%$ , $39.1\%$ , and $28.6\%$ , respectively, compared with the weighted means of the corresponding monocultures, and were highest at $40 \text{ kg P} \text{ ha}^{-1}$ .	20% increase compared to pure crops. Absorption of 32-44 kg P/ha/year so be it 3.4-7.1 kg P/ha/year more than monocultures.	N uptake by maize increased at two years under continuous (278-265 kg/ha) or rotational (235-267 kg/ha) intercropping with faba bean compared to monnocroping (162-203 kg/ha).	For cowpea compared with fallow, the increase in P Olsen in the rhizosphere was higher in the intercropping (62 % higher) than in sole cropping (23 % higher). For maize compared with fallow, the increase in Olsen P in the rhizosphere was also higher in intercropping (24 % higher) than in sole cropping (8 % higher).	Phosphorus availability was increased in the rhizosphere of both species, especially when intercropped in a low P soil. Durum wheat increased its rhizosphere Olsen-P concentration by $+60\%$ when grown as sole crop, and by $+90\%$ when intercropped. For chickpea this increase amounted to $+96\%$ and $+186\%$ , respectively.
Sandy loam	ı	Ŧ	clayey sur	7	clayey sur	ŧ	Clayey slit	Sandy loam	Aridisol	Sandy loam	Orthic Anthrosol	Fersialsol	Luvisol
Maize-based croprotations and three tillage practices (Zero Tillage, Permanent Bed, Conventional Tillage)	Arable farms	Pea	Oats	Pea	Oats	Pea	Oats	Intercropping (wheat-maize ; wheat-faba bean ; maize-faba bean)	Maize intercropping with oilseed, turnip, faba bean, chickpea and soybean	Intercropping, either continuous or rotational	Intercropping and rotational intercropping	Intercropping (maize/cowpea)	Intercropping (wheat/chickpea)
7 years India	France	c	Germany	c	Germany	c	Cermany	7 years China	3 years	10-11 years China	5 years China	1 year Algeria	40 years France
Long term effect of tillage in maize rotations on SOC for the soil depths 0–15 and 15–30 cm	Additional C storage per practices	Composition root	residues.	Composition aerial	residues.		Ruizodeposition	Intercropping enhances soil N.	Increased absorption of P.		N facilitation is influenced by crop combinations and patterns of strip intercropping.	Improving soil phosphorus availability by intercropping.	Intercropping increases the rhizosphere P availability in a low P soil.
								Nitrogen and	phosphorus regulation				

[76]	[64]	[46]	[47]
Z. Wang et al.	2014	Jensen, Erik Steen. 1996	Wang et al. 2014
20.2% decrease from initial status: 20.3 mg P/kg $\rightarrow$ 16.2 mg P/kg. 32.5% decrease compared to monoculture.	30.1% decrease from initial status: 20.3 mg P/kg $\rightarrow$ 14.2 mg P/kg. 46.8% decrease compared to monoculture.	Higher proportion of N in legumes is derived from atmospheric N2 fixation in intercrops than in monocrops, 62–82% on average in sandy soil.	Soil pH in maize/wheat and maize/faba bean intercropping was significantly reduced by 3.2 % and 1.9 %, respectively.
Orthic	Antrosol	Sandy loam	Sandy loam
Intercropping (maize/faba bean)	Intercropping (maize/soybean)	Intercropping (pea/barley)	Intercropping (maize/faba bean ; maize/wheat)
	+ years	2-3 years Denmark	China 9 years
Changing soil P	fertilization.	N2 fixation in intercrops	Long term pH- modification by intercropping









30

of the system. In green are represented the processes which appears over the time :

H<sub>AE1</sub> : Quantity of light and temperature shared between the crop and weeds and which influences the growth and developement of plants.

 $\cdot$  H<sub>AE2</sub> : The light and temperature affects the intensity of attacks by pests and diseases.

 $\cdot$  H<sub>AE3</sub> : The amount of water from rainfall and irrigation, which fill the water reserve.

 $\cdot H_{AE4}$ : A given quantity of inorganic fertiliser spread on field and supply the mineral pool.

·H<sub>AES</sub> : The choices related to diversification strategies (crops rotation/continous crop, intercropping/sole cropping, etc.) which influence the structure of crop in time and space and his relations with the other BAPs. · H<sub>A6</sub> : The phytosanitary treatments controls the population of weeds, pests and the diseases which may reduce the crop yield.

·H<sub>4E7</sub> : The soil characterisites (temperature, pH, moisture, tec) influence the physico-chemical reactions in soil and so the elements of mineral pool.

- HAE8 : The intensity of tillage management affects the crop and may reduce the quantity of the product harvested.

H<sub>AE9</sub>: The diversification strategies affects also the population of weeds, pests and the threat of diseases.

 $- H_{CI}$ : The weeds competition with the crop for the nutrients affects the production.

 $- H_{C2}$ : The damages causes by pests and diseases reduce the crop yield.

-  $H_{C3}$ : The amount of water uptakes by crop and weeds from water reserve.

-  $H_{C4}$ : The absorption of  $NH_4^+$ ,  $NO_5^-$ ,  $HPO_4^{2-}$ ,  $H_2PO_4^-$  by crop from mineral pool.  $\cdot$  H<sub>PE1a</sub> : Crop diversity enhance the yield compared to sole crop.

H<sub>PEIb</sub> : Improvement of the productivity and the stability of yield over years in response to crop diversification and tillage management.





Dynamic analysis of conceptual model of an agro-ecosystem regarding the effect of crop diversification on Greenhouse gases regulationemissions. The scheme shows the main hypotheses and the state variables (in italics) linking the elements of the system. In green are represented the processes which appears over the time :

- H<sub>AE1</sub> : Conditions of moisture and temperature which affect the rate mineralisation of SOM.

-  $H_{AE2}$  : The intensity of tillage changes the structure of soil.

-  $H_{AE3}$  : A given quantity of manure which reach and enriches the SOM.

- H<sub>AE4</sub> : A given quantity of inorganic fertiliser spread on field and supply the mineral pool.

-  $H_{AE3b}$  : The manure incorporated in SOM has an impact on GHG over the long term

- HAE4b : Inorganic fertilizers which are incorporate in the mineral pool affect long term GHG emissions.

- HAE5 : The choices related to diversification strategies (crops rotation/continous crop, intercropping/sole cropping, etc.) which influence the structure of crop in time and space and his relations with the other BAPs. - H<sub>464</sub> : The soil characterisitcs (temperature, pH, moisture, texture, etc) influence the physico-chemical reactions in mineral pool and in SOM.

- H<sub>8,4</sub>P<sub>1a</sub> : Mineralisation and immobilisation process between SOM and mineral pool. Crop association influences the rate of immobilisation.

- H<sub>BAP1b</sub> : Crop association increases the SOM mineralisation.

- H<sub>BAP2</sub> : Crop residues and rhizodeposition enrich the SOM.

- H<sub>BAP3</sub> : The WFPS impacts the soil mineral N.

-  $\mathrm{H}_{\mathrm{BAP4}}$  : The oxygen diffusion affects the activity of microorganisms.

- H<sub>BAP5</sub> : The soil micro-organisms influence the transformation of SOM

- H<sub>BAP6a</sub> : The absorption of NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup> and NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> by crop decrease the concentration of this elements in mineral pool.

- H<sub>BAP6b</sub> : N facilitation inluenced by crop association.

- H<sub>PE1a</sub>: Crop diversity participates to reduce infra-annual N<sub>2</sub>O emissions.

- H<sub>PEI</sub>b : The lenght of rotation impacts the N<sub>2</sub>O emissions. - H<sub>PE2</sub> : Crop diversity and tillage participates to reduce infra-annual CO<sub>2</sub> emissions.





30

Dynamic analysis of conceptual model of an agro-ecosystem regarding the effect of crop diversification on Erosion control. The scheme shows the main hypotheses and the state variables (in *italics*) linking the elements of the system. In green are represented the processes which appears over the time :

 $\cdot$  H<sub>AE1</sub> : The rainfall intensities impacts the soil surface structure.

- HAE2a : The choices related to diversification strategies (crops rotation /continous crop, intercropping/sole cropping, etc.) which influence the structure of crop in time and space and his relations with the other BAPs.  $\cdot\,H_{AE3}$  : The intensity of tillage changes the structure of soil

 $-H_{AE4}$ : The properties of plot and soil affect the soil structure.

- H<sub>BAP1</sub> : Crop residues and rhizodeposition enrich the SOM...

- H<sub>BAP2a</sub> : The soil coverage and roots of plants modifie the soil structure.

-  $\mathrm{H}_{\mathrm{BAP2b}}$  : Crop asociations can modifie the bulk density.

- H<sub>BAP3</sub> : The MO participates to stabilize the agregates of soil.

- H<sub>PE1</sub> : Diversification and tillage management affect the infra-annual runoff and soil Erosion control.
 - H<sub>PE1b</sub> : Intercropping reduce long term runoff and soil loss.





30

ഹ

m

the elements of the system. In green are represented the processes which appears over the time :

·HAE1 : Amount of water from rainfall and irrigation which circulates within the BAP structure, mineral pool, water and crop.

- H<sub>AE2</sub> : A given quantity of manure which reach and enriches the SOM.

-  $H_{AE3}$  : A given quantity of inorganic fertiliser spread on field and supply the mineral pool.

- H<sub>AE4</sub> : The choices related to diversification strategies (crops rotation/continous crop, intercropping/sole cropping, etc.) which influence the structure of crop in time and space and his relations with the other BAPs. -HAE5a : The intensity of tillage changes the structure of soil.

- H<sub>AE5b</sub> : Tillage influence soil water content.

- H<sub>AE6</sub> : The soil characterisites (temperature, pH, moisture, texture, etc) influence the physico-chemical reactions in mineral pool and in SOM.

- H<sub>8,471a</sub> : Mineralisation and immobilisation process between SOM and mineral pool. Crop association influences the rate of immobilisation.

- H<sub>BAP1b</sub> : Crop association increase the SOM mineralisation.

- H<sub>BAP2</sub> : Crop residues and rhizodeposition enrich the SOM.

- H<sub>B4P3a</sub> : The absorption of NH4<sup>+</sup> and NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> by crop decrease the concentration of this elements in mineral pool.

- H<sub>BAP3b</sub> : N facilitation inluenced by crop association.

-  $H_{BAP4}$  : The WFPS impacts the soil mineral N.

- H<sub>BAP5</sub> : The soil coverage and roots of plants modifie the soil structure.

-  $H_{BAP7}$  : The MO participates to stabilize the agregates of soil.

- H<sub>BAP8</sub> : The soil coverage and roots of plants modifie the soil structure.

- H<sub>PE1</sub> : Crop diversification limits the N leaching.

- HPEIb : Crop diversification remains efficient to reduces the N leaching over the long term.

· H<sub>PE2</sub> : Crop diversification influences the soil water content.

·HPE2b: Crop diversification and tillage management impacts the soil water over the long term.





Dynamic analysis of conceptual model of an agro-ecosystem regarding the effect of crop diversification on carbon storage. The scheme shows the main hypotheses and the state variables (in *italics*) linking the elements of the system. In green are represented the processes which appears over the time :

- H<sub>AEI</sub> : The choices related to diversification strategies (crops rotation /continous crop, intercropping/sole cropping, etc.) which influence the structure of crop in time and space and his relations with the other BAPs.
  - $H_{\rm AE2}$  : A given quantity of manure which reach and enriches the SOM.
    - $-H_{AE3a}$ : The intensity of tillage changes the structure of soil.
      - $H_{AE3b}$  : Tillage management affects the SOC.
- H<sub>AE4</sub> : The soil characterisites (temperature, pH, moisture, texture, etc) influence the physico-chemical reactions in mineral pool and in SOM.
  - H<sub>BAP1a</sub> : Mineralisation and immobilisation process between SOM and mineral pool. Crop association influences the rate of immobilisation.
    - H<sub>BAP1b</sub> : Crop association increases the SOM mineralisation.
      - H<sub>BAP2</sub> : Crop residues and rhizodeposition enrich the SOM.
- $H_{\rm BAP3}$  : The oxygen diffusion affects the activity of microorganisms.  $H_{\rm BAP4}$  : The soil micro-organisms influence the transformation of SOM.
  - H<sub>PE1a</sub>: Amount of carbon sequestred in SOM.
- H<sub>PE1b</sub> : Crop diversification enhances SOC over the long term.





30

Dynamic analysis of conceptual model of an agro-ecosystem regarding the effect of crop diversification on N and P regulation. The scheme shows the main hypotheses and the state variables (in *italics*) linking the elements of the system. In green are represented the processes which appears over the time :

-  $H_{AE1}$  :  $N_2$  fixation by legumes

-  $H_{AE2}$ : The intensity of tillage changes the structure of soil.

-  $H_{AE3}$  A given quantity of manure which reach and enriches the SOM.

-  $H_{AE4}$  : A given quantity of inorganic fertiliser spread on field and supply the mineral pool.

- H<sub>AE5</sub> : The soil characterisites (temperature, pH, moisture, texture, etc) influence the physico-chemical reactions in mineral pool and in SOM.

- HAE6 : The choices related to diversification strategies (crops rotation/continous crop, intercropping/sole cropping, etc.) which influence the structure of crop in time and space and his relations with the other BAPs.

- H<sub>BAPla</sub> : Mineralisation and immobilisation process between SOM and mineral pool. Crop association influences the rate of immobilisation.

- H<sub>BAP1b</sub> : Crop association increases the SOM mineralisation.

-  $\mathrm{H}_{\mathrm{BAP3}}$  :The oxygen diffusion affects the activity of microorganisms - H<sub>BAP2</sub> : Crop residues and rhizodeposition enrich the SOM.

- H<sub>BAP5a</sub> : The absorption of NH4<sup>+</sup> and NO3<sup>-</sup> by crop decrease the concentration of this elements in mineral pool. - H<sub>BAP4</sub> : The soil micro-organisms influence the transformation of SOM.

- H<sub>BAP5b</sub> : N facilitation inluenced by crop association.

- H<sub>BAP6</sub> : N facilitation inluenced by crop association. - H<sub>PE1</sub> : Amount of carbon sequestred in SOM.

·HPE2 : Crop diversification enhances SON over the long term.

# Appendix 4



*Observed vs. simulated dry matter (DM) yield for maize and wheat in the EFELE experiment ("TS/MO" trial) in 2012-2019. Wheat crop is represented by yellow marks and maize crop by green marks.* 

Statistical sun	nmary	on the acci	ıracy of AF	PSIM to	simulate	crop DI	1 yield	for maize	and	wheat	in the E	FELE	experin	nent
("TS/MO" tri	ial; "co	onventional	tillage/min	eral fert	ilizer" tr	eatment)	in 201.	2-2019 for	· rota	tion 2	simulati	on with	soil 1	and
soil 2 and soil	l 3.													

	Soil 1		Soil 2		Soil		
	Maize	Wheat	Maize	Wheat	Maize	Wheat	
No. Obs	4	4	4	4	4	4	
Observed data -mean (t ha-1)	19.95	7.24	19.95	7.24	19.95	7.24	
Simulated date - mean (t ha <sup>-1</sup> )	16.67	7.32	16.59	7.27	16.95	7.42	
Observed data - SD (t ha <sup>-1</sup> )	1.96	0.72	1.96	0.72	1.96	0.72	
Simulated data -SD (t ha <sup>-1</sup> )	3.98	1.50	4.04	1.48	1.65	1.72	
RMSE (t ha <sup>-1</sup> )	5.91	1.27	6.00	1.24	5.96	1.37	
CCC	-0.37	0.23	-0.36	0.25	-0.40	0.24	

No. Obs, number of observations; SD, standard deviation; RMSE, root mean square error; CCC, concordance correlation coefficient.

AGRO CAMPUS OUEST	Diplôme et Mention : Master Biologie, Agrosciences Parcours : Amélioration, Production et Valorisation du Végétal Option : Fonctionnement et gestion des agrosystèmes Responsable d'option : Matthieu Carof				
Auteur(s) : Louis BOURDIN Date de naissance* : 29/05/97		Organisme d'accueil : Agrocampus Ouest Adresse : 65, rue de Saint Brieuc 35042 Reppes			
Nb pages : 41 Annexe(s) : 4					
Année de soutenance : 2020		Maître de stage : Matthieu Carof			

Titre anglais : Which crop model to simulate the ecosystem services provided by crop diversification in Brittany ? Titre français : Quel modèle de culture pour simuler les services écosystémiques fournis par la diversification des cultures en Bretagne ?

Because current farming systems have many issues, particularly related to their negative impacts on the environment, it is necessary to operate a transition toward more sustainable agriculture and redesigning cropping systems. Crop diversification, which acts on planned biodiversity as well as associated biodiversity, is a solution for designing disruptive sustainable farming systems, able to provide several ecosystem services. Designing such farming systems including various levels of crop diversification via crop rotation and intercropping needs crop modelling because it allows assessing ecosystem services provided by a wide range of virtual systems, on different climate-soil contexts, on a long-term basis. Consequently, the objective of this study is to define detailed, by the conceptualisation of an "ideal" system, characteristics that a crop model should have to simulate crop diversification and its consequences on various ecosystem services relevant in Brittany region. For this, among 3 crop models (APSIM, DSSAT, STICS), we select the best crop model according to the detailed characteristics proposed in "ideal" system and we test its relevance in Brittany region. APSIM comes out as the crop model best suited to respond to our objective and to simulate and follows indicators related to the provision of ecosystem services. However, despite encouraging results, APSIM shows some limits to getting use to Britany pedoclimate context principally because a lack of adapted cultivars and complete information about initial conditions of soil. Thus, given this weakness, it is necessary to set up an adaptation step of the crop model and to complete this work with other simulations whose outputs will be compared with more observed data. In this way, it could be established whether APSIM is a good tool for designing systems based on crop diversification in the Brittany Region.

Étant donné que les systèmes agricoles actuels posent de nombreux problèmes, notamment en ce qui concerne leurs effets négatifs sur l'environnement, il est nécessaire d'opérer une transition vers une agriculture plus durable et de revoir la conception des systèmes de culture. La diversification des cultures, qui agit sur la biodiversité planifiée ainsi que sur la biodiversité associée, est une solution pour concevoir des systèmes agricoles durables, capables de fournir plusieurs services écosystémiques. La conception de tels systèmes agricoles incluant divers niveaux de diversification des cultures (la rotation des cultures ; cultures associées) nécessite une étape de modélisation permettant d'évaluer sur le long terme les services écosystémiques fournis par l'agroécosystème dans différents contextes pédoclimatiques. Par conséquent, l'objectif de cette étude est de définir en détail, par la conceptualisation d'un système "idéal", les caractéristiques que devraient avoir un modèle pour simuler la diversification des cultures et ses conséquences sur les différents services écosystémiques. Pour cela, parmi 3 modèles de culture (APSIM, DSSAT, STICS), nous sélectionnons le meilleur modèle de culture en fonction des caractéristiques détaillées proposées dans le système "idéal" et nous testons sa pertinence en région bretonne. APSIM ressort comme le modèle le mieux adapté pour répondre à notre objectif et pour simuler et suivre les indicateurs liés à la fourniture de services écosystémiques. Cependant, malgré des résultats encourageants, APSIM montre certaines limites à l'utilisation dans le contexte pédoclimatique breton, principalement en raison d'un manque de cultivars adaptés et d'informations complètes sur les conditions initiales du sol. Ainsi, compte tenu de cette faiblesse, il est nécessaire de mettre en place une étape d'adaptation du modèle de culture et de compléter ce travail par d'autres simulations dont les sorties seront comparées à des données observées pertinente et plus nombreuses. Ainsi on pourrait établir si APSIM est un bon outil pour concevoir des systèmes basés sur la diversification des cultures en Région Bretagne.

Mots-clés : Diversification, Ecosystem services, Conceptualisation, Model validation, APSIM, Brittany Key Words: Diversification, Services écosystémiques, Conceptualisation, Validation du modèle, APSIM, Bretagne

<sup>\*</sup> Elément qui permet d'enregistrer les notices auteurs dans le catalogue des bibliothèques universitaires